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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents
of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any
liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report
is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present to you the
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Reporting
Period").

REVIEW

The total revenue of the Group increased by approximately
HK$62.1 million or 20.7% from approximately HK$300.0 million
for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$362.1
million for the year ended 31 March 2022. Such increase was
mainly attributable to the contribution from revenue of a sizable
project, namely Fo Tan.

FORWARD

Looking ahead, the Group is confident about the prospect of the
facade and curtain wall works solution industry in Hong Kong due
to the expected growth of the construction industry in Hong Kong
driven by the Hong Kong Government’s initiatives to increase the
land supply for private housing as well as commercial buildings.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to express
my sincere gratitude to all of our customers, shareholders and
business partners for their patronage. | would also like to express
our sincere appreciation to the Group’s management and staff for
their commitment, contribution and dedication throughout the
years.

By order of the Board
Chow Mo Lam
Chairman

22 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEENWED N

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are a subcontractor that provides facade and curtain wall works
solutions in Hong Kong. Our solutions are customised to meet
the technical specifications and performance requirements of our
customers. We generally provide both design and build services
in our projects, ranging from developing designs, conducting
structural calculations, preparing shop drawings, sourcing and
procuring building materials, arranging for building material
logistics and installation works, project management to post-project
completion services. We engage subcontractors to perform the
installation work from time to time.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had twelve projects in progress
with a total original contract sum of approximately HK$906.5
million, of which approximately HK$339.5 million was recognised
as revenue during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, we were awarded six new projects,
with a total contract sum of approximately HK$473.5 million. Letter
of award of these six projects were signed and all these six projects
are now at the commencement stage.

OUTLOOK

The demand for facade and curtain wall works is driven by
construction of residential and commercial buildings. The
development of residential buildings in Hong Kong has been a
major driver of facade and curtain wall works and the forecast
completions in 2022 and 2023 are 22,851 new units and 21,848
new units respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Another driver for the facade and curtain wall works industry
is office buildings in Hong Kong. These buildings included both
installation of curtain wall systems as the envelop system above
the podium and the works for the building entrance, lobby and
the associate stores. According to The Hong Kong Property Review
2022 compiled by the Rating and Valuation Department, office
completions in 2021 slightly rose to 69,600 m?. Completions are
expected to increase to 350,200 m? in 2022 and then retreat
to 256,600 m? in 2023. In 2022, new Grade A completions will
account for 282,300 m?, with Kowloon City, Kwun Tong and the
Eastern district contributing respectively 27%, 24% and 21%
of the anticipated supply. Grade A completions in 2023 will be
229,500 m?, with Sham Shui Po accounting for 42% of the forecast
completions.

Notwithstanding the negative impact from the economic slowdown
driven by the global macro-economic conditions, the Group remains
optimistic about its core business as the management believes that
there is a market for quality facade and curtain wall works in Hong
Kong. The Group will further strengthen its sales effort, closely
monitor the status of the projects and carefully control the cost of
services so as to expand its customer base and achieve sustainable
business growth and long-term benefits to its shareholders. We
are hoping to be more competitive and able to compete for more
sizeable and profitable projects.

The Group considers that the recent outbreak of the COVID-19 will
affect our business and the Group is actively updating its project
status with its customers. The Board will continue to assess the
potential impact of the outbreak on the Group’s operation and
will closely monitor the Group’s exposure to relevant risks and
uncertainties.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The total revenue of the Group increased by approximately
HK$62.1 million or 20.7% from approximately HK$300.0 million for
the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$362.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2022. Such increase was mainly
attributable to the contribution from a sizable project, namely Fo Tan.

Our revenue during the Reporting Period are generated from
the Group’s customers in Hong Kong. For the year ended 31
March 2022, the Group generated (i) revenue of approximately
HK$204.9 million from commercial properties projects, representing
approximately 56.6% of the Group’s revenue; and (ii) revenue
of approximately HK$157.2 million from residential properties
projects, representing approximately 43.4% of the Group's
revenue.

Cost of Services

The Group's cost of services primarily consisted of building material
costs, subcontracting charges, staff costs and other direct costs.
The cost of services increased to approximately HK$345.6 million
for the year ended 31 March 2022 from approximately HK$284.8
million for the year ended 31 March 2021, representing an increase
of approximately 21.3%. The increase is in line with the increase in
revenue.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately HK$1.3
million from approximately HK$15.2 million for the year ended
31 March 2021 to approximately HK$16.5 million for the
year ended 31 March 2022. The Group’s gross profit margin
decreased from approximately 5.1% for the year ended 31
March 2021 to approximately 4.6% for the year ended 31 March
2022, representing a decrease of approximately 0.5 percentage
points. The decrease was mainly attributable to the additional
subcontracting costs incurred when carrying out certain projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other Income, Gains and Losses

Other income, gains and losses decreased by approximately HK$2.0
million for the year ended 31 March 2022. Such change was mainly
attributable to the absence of subsidies granted to the Group under
the Employment Support Scheme launched by the Hong Kong SAR
Government for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Reversal of Impairment Losses

The reversal of impairment losses for the year ended 31 March
2022 was approximately HK$0.5 million and the impairment losses
for the year ended 31 March 2021 was approximately HK$0.3
million. Such turnaround of approximately HK$0.8 million was
mainly attributable to the lower probability of default of our key
customers in 2022 than in 2021.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$0.2 million from approximately HK$9.8 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$9.6 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022. The decrease was mainly attributable to the
decrease in depreciation expenses of approximately HK$0.2 million
during the Reporting Period.

Finance Costs

Finance costs decreased from approximately HK$4.1 million for the
year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$4.0 million for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

Taxation

The income tax expenses of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$0.3 million from approximately HK$1.0 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$0.7 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

Profit for the Year

Profit for the year increased from approximately HK$1.9 million
for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$2.7
million for the year ended 31 March 2022. Such increase was
mainly attributable to the net results of: (i) the decrease in the
other income, gains and losses of approximately HK$2.0 million;
(i) the increase in gross profit of approximately HK$1.3 million;
(iii) the turnaround in impairment losses of approximately HK$0.8
million; (iv) the decrease in the taxation expenses of approximately
HK$0.3 million; (v) the decrease in the administrative expenses of
approximately HK$0.2 million; and (vi) the decrease in the finance
cost of approximately HK$0.1 million.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Cash and bank balances as at 31 March 2022 was approximately
HK$12.5 million, increased by approximately HK$1.9 million when
compared with approximately HK$10.6 million as at 31 March
2021. Such change was mainly attributable to the interim payments
from our customers.

The pledged deposits, including both the non-current and current
portions, were approximately HK$27.4 million as at 31 March 2021
and 2022.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had outstanding borrowings of
approximately HK$110.7 million repayable on demand or within
one year (2021: HK$95.5 million) and outstanding borrowings
of approximately HK$7.0 million repayable after one year (2021:
HK$2.5 million). The Group’s borrowings were denominated in
HK$. The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set
out in the loan agreements. For information about the interest rate,
please refer to note 26 to the consolidated financial statements of
this report.

The current ratio of the Group decreased from approximately 1.4
as at 31 March 2021 to approximately 1.3 as at 31 March 2022.
The gearing ratio, being the net debt (defined as bank borrowings
less cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits) divided
by net debt plus total equity at the end of the year, increased from
approximately 47.5% to approximately 53.0% as at 31 March 2021
and 31 March 2022, respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange on 23 February 2018 (the “Listing Date”). There
has been no change in the capital structure of the Group since
then. The share capital of the Group only comprises of ordinary
shares.

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$8.0 million and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
800,000,000 of HK$0.01 each.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have other plans
for material investments or capital assets as at the date of this
report.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's bank deposits with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$27.4 million (2021: HK$27.4 million),
invoices issued to customers with total amount of approximately
HK$27.2 million (2021: HK$25.1 million) and the financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$9.9 million
(2021: HK$9.8 million) were pledged to secure certain letters of
guarantee facility and banking facilities respectively, granted to the
Group. The pledged cash deposit of HK$4.4 million (2021: HK$3.2
million) was pledged to a third party to secure the performance
guarantee granted by the third party of HK$12.1 million (2021:
HK$8.1 million).

As at 31 March 2022, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu"”) and
two companies controlled by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr. Chow") or
his close family members (namely, Polyfaith Holdings Limited and
Polykind Far East Limited) had pledged their properties to secure
banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries of the Group for nil
consideration.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group did not have any
significant capital commitments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided guarantees in respect of surety bonds in favour
of customers of certain construction contracts. Details regarding
these guarantees are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements of this report. Save as disclosed herein, there is
no other contingent liabilities that the Group is aware of.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS

There were no significant investments held, acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies by the Group during the
Reporting Period. Saved as disclosed in this report, the Group did
not have other plans for significant investments, acquisitions and
disposal of subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022.

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

The majority of the Group’s businesses is in Hong Kong and is
denominated in HK$, Renminbi and United States Dollars (“USD").
As no material monetary assets or liabilities were denominated in
foreign currencies, the Group is of the opinion that its exposure
to foreign exchange rate risk is limited. Thus, the Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 117 (2021: 98) employees.
Total staff cost (including Directors’ emoluments) were
approximately HK$49.9 million (2021: HK$41.5 million). The
remuneration package offered to our employees generally included
basic salaries, bonuses and other cash allowances or subsidies. The
Group determines the salary of our employees mainly based on
each employee’s qualifications, relevant experience, position and
seniority. The Group conducts annual review on salary increase
and promotions based on the performance of each employee. The
Group provides on-the-job training to our employees and sponsors
certain employees to attend training courses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 25
January 2018. Please refer to note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group mainly carries out its business in Hong Kong. To the
best of the Directors’ knowledge, the Group has complied with all
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong during the year.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that the risk management practices are
important and uses its best effort to ensure it has sufficiently
mitigated the risks present in our operations and financial position
as efficiently and effectively as possible.

- Changes in the cost of building materials and staff as well
as the subcontracting fees may result in cost overrun, which
could materially affect our results of operation and financial
performance;

- The Group may face difficulties in refinancing or increase in
cost of financing;

- Mismanagement or delay of our projects will materially affect
our reputation and also our financial performance as penalties
and/or additional costs may be incurred;

- Cash flow of our projects may fluctuate;

- We rely on subcontractors to complete our projects.
Underperformance of our subcontractors or unavailability
of subcontractors may adversely affect our operations,
profitability and reputation; and

- Our success significantly depends on the key management
and our ability to attract and retain additional facade and
curtain wall design team staff.

For other risks and uncertainties the Group facing, please refer
to the section headed “Risk Factors” in the prospectus dated 31
January 2018 (the “Prospectus”).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEBEFR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Mo Lam, aged 68, is one of the controlling
shareholders (the “Controlling Shareholders”, which has the
meaning as cited under the GEM Listing Rules), an executive
Director, the chairman of the Board and a member of the
Remuneration Committee. Mr. Chow is one of the founding
members of the Group and joined the Group in February 2006.
He is primarily responsible for the overall business strategy, annual
budget proposals and major business decisions of the Group with
a focus on our finance. Mr. Chow was appointed as a Director on
25 May 2017, appointed as the chairman of the Board on 9 August
2017 and re-designated as an executive Director on 25 January
2018. He is also a director of 3 subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Chow obtained a Master of Business Administration from the
Henley Management College (which is, after merging with another
school, currently known as the Henley Business School) in the
United Kingdom through distance learning in 1995 and a Master
of Laws in People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") Law from The
Open University of Hong Kong (currently known as Hong Kong
Metropolitan University) in 2005. Mr. Chow is also a fellow member
of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants from the
United Kingdom. Mr. Chow has over 20 years of experience in the
construction industry, and has been a founder, an investor and a
manager of curtain wall companies in Hong Kong and the PRC.
He has been a director of CMD Aluminium Industry (Shenzhen)
Co, Ltd (REZBH& CRYI)BRAF) ("CMD (S2)"), which is
principally engaged in the manufacturing of curtain wall in the
PRC and wholesale of construction materials, glass and aluminium
products in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau, since February
2003, and gained experience in the curtain wall industry for
over 10 years therein. In February 2006, Mr. Chow co-founded
Polyfair Construction & Engineering Limited (“Polyfair HK") with
other founding members, aiming to capture emerging business
opportunities within the construction industry in Hong Kong.

Mr. Chow is a proprietor of Albert Chow C.P.A., a secretarial firm
incorporated in Hong Kong which, save and except for providing
company secretarial service to Polyfair HK since our establishment
up to 1 September 2017, does not have any business relationship
with the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, aged 64, is one of the Controlling
Shareholders, an executive Director, the chief executive officer of
the Group and a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Yu
joined the Group as an executive officer of Polyfair HK in April 2009
and was appointed as a director of Polyfair HK in February 2010.
Mr. Yu is primarily responsible for the overall business strategy,
annual budget proposals, and major business decisions of the
Group with a focus on our operation and project management. Mr.
Yu was appointed as a Director on 25 May 2017 and re-designated
as an executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also a director
of 2 subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Yu has over 30 years of experience in facade and curtain wall,
aluminium window and entrance door construction, and project
and enterprise management in Hong Kong. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Yu co-founded Condo Construction & Engineering
Company Limited (subsequently known as Condo Curtain Wall
Company Limited) and Condo Engineering (China) Limited in 1983
and 1986, which specialised in the design, supply and installation
of aluminium windows, curtain walls, glass walls and metal
claddings in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC, and worked therein
until December 2002. During his service in these two companies,
Mr. Yu participated in business operations and was responsible
for overseeing the design, supply, installation and quality control
matter of projects.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEBEFE

Mr. Wong Kam Man, aged 62, is an executive Director and a
project director of the Group. Mr. Wong joined the Group as a
senior project manager of Polyfair HK on 10 August 2012. Mr.
Wong is primarily responsible for project management in terms of
construction programme, supervision of our subcontractors’ work
and implementation of quality assurance and/or quality control
procedures in compliance with contract specifications. Mr. Wong
was appointed as a Director on 9 August 2017 and re-designated
as an executive Director on 25 January 2018.

Mr. Wong is a holder of Certificate in Civil Engineering of The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Wong has over 30 years of
experience in aluminium and metal works construction in Hong
Kong. Mr. Wong worked for various construction and engineering
companies in Hong Kong including Wah Tung Metal Engineering
Co., PMB Cyberwall Ltd. and Chevalier (Aluminium Engineering)
Limited as a site supervisor, project manager and senior project
manager. He participated in numerous construction projects and he
was responsible for, among others, project planning, budgeting and
management, design monitoring, installation supervision, quality
control and coordinating with main contractors. Prior to joining the
Group on 10 August 2012, Mr. Wong worked as a senior project
manager at Wah Tung Metal Engineering Co. from February 2010
to July 2012.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah, aged 71, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 25 January 2018. He also serves as
the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
respectively. He has been working as a lecturer at the School of
Continuing and Professional Studies of The Chinese University of
Hong Kong since 1996. Dr. Lung also worked at the City University
of Macau from 2013 to 2018, where he last served as an assistant
professor.

Dr. Lung was employed as a company secretary (November 2002 to
October 2009) and financial controller (November 2002 to October
2008) of VST Holdings Limited, a main board listed company
(stock code: 856). He was also appointed as an independent
non-executive director of eprint Group Limited (stock code: 1884)
from November 2013 to August 2016. Dr. Lung has over 30 years
of professional and commercial experience in company secretary,
accounting and finance.

Dr. Lung is a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute respectively. He is also an associate member of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Dr. Lung obtained a degree of
Doctor of Philosophy in Business Administration from the Tarlac
State University in the Philippines through distance learning in
November 2012 and a degree of Master of Business Administration
from the University of Macau (formerly known as the University of
East Asia, Macau) in February 1988.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEBEFE

Mr. Man Yun Yee, aged 69, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 12 February 2020. He also serves as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. He has over 40
years of experience in auditing, accounting and management. He
is currently an engagement partner of Dickson W. P. Mak & Co.,
a certified public accountants firm in Hong Kong. He first joined
Dickson W. P. Mak & Co. in May 2009 and served as a senior
auditor from May 2009 to April 2012 and from February 2015 to
April 2016, and he has become an engagement partner since May
2016.

Mr. Man obtained a master of professional accountancy from
Jinan University in the People’s Republic of China through distance
learning in January 2002. He was admitted as an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
May 2000 and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in March 2005.

Mr. Wong Chi Yung, aged 38, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 25 January 2018. Mr. Wong also serves
as the chairman of the Nomination Committee, and a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. He
obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance
and Management from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in 2005. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in
accounting and corporate finance.

Mr. Wong is an executive director, chairman and chief executive
officer of BCl Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8412). He was
the vice president of INCU Corporate Finance Limited from July
2016 to April 2021. He was a non-executive director of China
Information Technology Development Limited (stock code: 8178)
from July 2016 to June 2019 and a non-executive director of
Century Energy International Holdings Limited (formerly known as
China Oil Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited) (stock code:
8132) from June 2011 to December 2013, and also worked at SMI
Management (HK) Limited, SMI Corporation Limited and Ernst &
Young.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wong Chi Kan Johnny, aged 55, is the design director of
the Group. He is primarily responsible for general technical and
engineering work, preparing conceptual designs of tender and
ensuring that the use of building materials complies with the
contracts and the Buildings Department’s requirements. Mr. Wong
Chi Kan Johnny is a holder of Higher Certificate in Civil Engineering
of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He has over 30 years of
experience in the construction and engineering industry in Hong
Kong. He joined the Group on 1 March 2006 as a senior design
manager.

Mr. Wong Chi Kan Johnny has worked in various construction and
engineering companies in Hong Kong since February 1989 as an
assistant technical manager and later as a senior design engineer.
Prior to joining the Group, he worked in Nuclear Construction and
Engineering Co., Ltd. from January 2003 to February 2006 where
he was responsible for engineering design, and his last position
held was senior design engineer. Before that, he was employed
by Condo Curtain Wall Co., Ltd. as an assistant technical manager
from February 1989 to January 2003.

Mr. Ning Gong, aged 34, is the senior project engineer of the
Group. He is primarily responsible for drafting structural designs
of facade and curtain wall, and preparing submission for the
Buildings Department’s approval. He obtained a degree of Bachelor
of Engineering in Harbour, Waterway and Coastal Engineering
from the Shanghai Maritime University in the PRC in 2010, and
further obtained a degree of Master of Science in Civil Engineering
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2011. Mr. Ning
has approximately 10 years of experience in the construction and
engineering industry in Hong Kong. He joined the Group on 9
March 2017 as a project engineer.

Mr. Ning has worked in various construction and engineering
companies in Hong Kong since October 2011 as an assistant
engineer and as a project engineer. Prior to joining the Group, he
worked in Chun Sing Engineering Co., Ltd. from August 2014 to
February 2017. His main duties during this employment were to,
among others, coordinate with clients and structural/geotechnical
consultants, conduct structural research, design foundation system,
develop construction methods and interpret and review design
work. His last position held was project engineer.
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Corporate Governance Report
CEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders, enhance the
corporate value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, to the best knowledge of
the Board, the Company has complied with the applicable code
provisions as set out in the CG Code. The Company will enhance
its corporate governance practices appropriate to the operation and
growth of the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealing as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard”).

Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the Required Standard for
the year ended 31 March 2022.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
“Employees Written Guidelines”) no less than the Required
Standard for securities transactions by employees who are likely to
be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the
Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises six Directors, consisting of three
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman and a member of the Remuneration
Committee)

Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (Chief Executive Officer and a member of
the Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Wong Kam Man

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah (Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee)

Mr. Man Yun Yee (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee)

Mr. Wong Chi Yung (Chairman of the Nomination Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee)

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management” from pages 14 to 19 of this annual report.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.
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Board Meetings

For the year ended 31 March 2022, 4 board meetings were held,
of which all the meetings were regular Board meetings. Apart from
regular board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors.

Notice of at least 14 days are given to all Directors for all regular
Board meetings and the Directors can include matters for discussion
in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying Board
papers in respect of regular Board meetings are sent out in full
to all Directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all Board meetings are circulated to Directors for
comment within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretary of the respective meetings and all
Directors have access to Board papers and related materials, and
are provided with adequate information in a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer
are held by Mr. Chow Mo Lam and Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen,
respectively. The chairman provides leadership and is responsible
for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The chief
executive officer focuses on the Company’s business development
and daily management and operations generally.

Independent non-executive Directors

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors, representing
at least one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code states that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the executive Directors, Mr. Chow Mo Lam, Mr. Yu Lap On
Stephen and Mr. Wong Kam Man, entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years in 2018 and renewed
his service agreement for a term of three years from 23 February
2021 until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Wong
Chi Yung and Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company with a term of three years in
2018 and renewed his letter of appointment for a term of three
years from 23 February 2021 until terminated by not less than
one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other.
Another independent non-executive Director, Mr. Man Yun Yee,
also entered into a letter of appointment with the Company with
a term of three years on 12 February 2020 until terminated by not
less than one month’s notice in writing served by either party on
the other.

One-third of the Directors are subject to re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM")
pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”). The term of offices of every Director is also subject to
retirement by rotation at the AGM at least once every three years
pursuant to the Articles.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, determines the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company, and ensures that sound internal
control and risk management systems are in place.
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All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are primarily responsible
for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves its right to decide on all major matters relating
to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management.

The Board also advocates the participation of independent
non-executive Directors and (if any) non-executive Directors
in various Board committees to safeguard objectivity and
independence.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. The Board and each Director should have a separate
and independent access to and meetings with senior management
of the Company.
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Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.

The Directors have participated in the following training during the
year ended 31 March 2022:
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Directors Types of Training Vet 2= 3E 3 5 Bl
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chow Mo Lam A&B B A& AKB
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen A&B RULTRE AKB
Mr. Wong Kam Man A&B \mIRNSEE AXB
Independent non-executive Directors BAFHTES
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah A&B BEEEFL AXB
Mr. Man Yun Yee A&B XER LA ANB
Mr. Wong Chi Yung A&B FHEELEE ANB
Note: B 5T
Types of Training =[]l

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authorities and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon request.
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The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out under “Corporate
Information” of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 January 2018
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to
5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision D.3.3 of the CG
Code. The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee was
revised on 12 November 2018.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors: Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah, Mr. Man Yun Yee and Mr. Wong
Chi Yung. Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah was appointed to serve as the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held 4 meetings for the year ended
31 March 2022, at which the Audit Committee reviewed the
quarterly, interim and annual financial statements and the
related results announcement, reports and documents and
attended various matters or issues raised by the Company’s
auditor, made recommendation to the Board the re-appointment
of the Company’s auditor, discussed and confirmed with the
management the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems, reviewed
the risk management and internal control systems and made
recommendation to the Board and reviewed the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance to comply with the CG
Code. The Audit Committee members met the external auditors
once a year without the presence of the executive Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 25
January 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision
E.1.2 of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee has
adopted the recommendation model described in code provision
E.1.2(c)(ii) of CG code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the
overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors
and senior management of the Group; to determine, with
delegated responsibility, the specific remuneration packages of
all executive Directors and senior management, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment; review performance-based remuneration; and
ensure none of our Directors determine their own remuneration.
The remuneration policy for the Directors and senior management
members is based on their experience, level of responsibility and
general market conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit
payments are linked to the profit performance of the Group and
the individual performance of the Directors and senior management
members.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee
currently consists of five members, namely Mr. Man Yun Yee, Mr.
Chow Mo Lam, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah and
Mr. Wong Chi Yung. The chairman of the Remuneration Committee
is Mr. Man Yun Yee.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, 1 meeting was held by the
Remuneration Committee, at which the Remuneration Committee
discussed and reviewed the existing policy and structure of the
remuneration for the Directors and senior management, assessed
the performance of the Directors and approved the remuneration
packages of senior management of the Company.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band are
set out in note 13 in the notes to the audited consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 25
January 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance
with code provision B.3.1 of the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board on a regular basis; identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee currently
consists of three members, namely Mr. Wong Chi Yung, Dr.
Lung Cheuk Wah and Mr. Man Yun Yee. The chairman of the
Nomination Committee is Mr. Wong Chi Yung.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’'s Board
diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and industrial and regional experience etc. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary,
and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria
necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, 1 meeting was held by the
Nomination Committee, at which the Nomination Committee
reviewed the Board’s structure, size, composition and diversity,
and assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.
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Attendance Record for Board Meeting, %ﬁ EEEERRBRERKX

Committees’ Meeting and General Meeting

B
The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, the B ZE2022F3831HIFE SESHLFEEE
Board Committees meetings and the general meeting for the year @ &% ZBEEZECLENBRRASHILH
ended 31 March 2022 is set out in the following table: xKIT

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board  Committee = Committee = Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting Meeting
EX £ R#
Name of Directors EEng EZeed ZE8EX 2 ZEgeE ZEggd REXE
Executive Directors TES
Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman) BRMWEE (£E) N/A N/A
4/4 TEA 11 NEA 111
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen RURKE N/A N/A
(Chief Executive Officer) (TTE#8%) 4/4 TER 1/1 @A 11
Mr. Wong Kam Man B XEE N/A N/A N/A
4/4 NEM NEm i 11
Independent Non-executive BYFHTES
Directors
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah EEERL 4/4 4/4 11 11 11
Mr. Man Yun Yee Y;‘F‘ REE 4/4 4/4 11 11 1/1
Mr. Wong Chi Yung FEELE 4/4 4/4 ”n 11 1”1
Total number of meeting(s) eRay 4 4 1 1 1
Corporate Governance Functions TEEERHEE

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the functions EZEESHEERBTLEE ATRISTAIEX
set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. A ¢
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to
identify, assess and manage different types of risks. As the first line
of defence, business units are responsible for identifying, assessing
and monitoring risk associated with each business or transaction.
The management, as the second line of defence, defines rule sets
and models, provides technical support, develops new system
and oversees project management. It ensures that risks are within
acceptable range and that the first line of defence is effective. As
the final line of defence, the independent consultant assists the
Audit Committee to review the first and second lines of defence.

The Group is committed to the identification, evaluation and
management of risks associated with its business activities through
ongoing assessment of a risk register, by considering the likelihood
and impact of each identified risk. The Group has implemented
an effective control system which includes a defined management
structure with limits of authority, a sound management system
and periodic review of the Group's performance by the Audit
Committee and the Board.
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As the corporate and operation structure of the Group is not
complex and a separate internal audit department may divert
resources of the Group, the Group currently does not have an
internal audit department. However, the Group has engaged
an independent third-party internal control consultant to, on an
annual basis, review and provide recommendations on improving
its internal control system in order to manage our business risks
and to ensure our smooth operation. The review covered certain
operational procedures. No significant control failings or weakness
have been identified by the consultant during the review. The Board
and the Audit Committee would review the need for an internal
audit function on an annual basis.

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 March 2022. The
Board and the Audit Committee considered the risk management
and internal control systems effective and adequate. No significant
areas of concern that might affect shareholders were identified.

Whistleblowing procedures are in place to facilitate employees
of the Group to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters
of the Group.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees of the Company in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.
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Procedures and internal controls include:

i Only designated persons are authorised to communicate the
Company's corporate matters with investors, analysts, the
media or other members of the investment community;

i) Directors should report to the Chief Executive Officer any
potential or suspected inside information as soon as possible
for him to consult the Board for determining the nature of
developments, and if required, making appropriate disclosure;
and

iii)  Disclosure of inside information must be made in a manner
that can provide for equal, timely and effective access by the
public to the disclosed inside information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Directors are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages
82 to 86 of this report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditor of the
Company, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$585,000 and HK$15,000 respectively.

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below:
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e EBNER
(HK$)
(&)

Audit Services ZE RS
Non-audit Services IEZERTS 585,000
— Profits Tax Service - NSRS 15,000
600,000

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Liu Ying Shun (“Mr. Liu”) has been appointed as Company
Secretary of the Company since 11 November 2019.

Mr. Liu has over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting
and financial management. Mr. Liu has been a practicing member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
2012. Mr. Liu obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration
from Lingnan University in December 2005. Mr. Liu was employed,
among others, by Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited
(an accounting firm which merged into BDO Limited on 1 May
2009) from January 2006 to December 2009 with his last position
as an senior associate; PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited as a senior
associate from January 2010 to April 2012 and from January 2014
to August 2016 with his last position as a manager; and Wong's
Kong King International (Holdings) Limited (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code: 0532) as a finance manager from
April 2012 to April 2013. Mr. Liu is the founder and director of
Zhong Pu CPA Limited, which principally provide audit and advisory,
consultancy, taxation services for clients ranging from private
entities to listed companies in Hong Kong.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board has access to the
advice and services of Mr. Liu at all time in accordance with code
provision C.6.4 of the CG Code. Mr. Liu has taken no less than 15
hours of professional training for the year ended 31 March 2022
pursuant to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual Director. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the website of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meeting

According to article 58 of the Articles, any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as a Director of the Company at a general
meeting, pursuant to article 85 of the Articles, the shareholder
(other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and
vote at the general meeting shall send a written notice, duly signed
by the shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such person for
election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of
his/her willingness to be elected. These notices should be lodged at
the Company’s head office or the office of the Company’s branch
share registrar. The period for lodgement of such notices shall
commence on the day after the despatch of the notice of such
general meeting and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of
such general meeting.

34 rolyfair Holdings Limited %224 R 2 7l

HE2022F3A3MHIEFE EE2—EHR
BEEERTAZTRMEXC64RIFEL
EMERBERE - EHE202283A318 1EF
€ BAEDBEGEM EMEAIES. 1582
LN DS (E/ N ) F ) -

iR R AE A

RREBRMER MR ARFEREE
RBIZH(BHEEREHNES) RBRAE
FREFIRZER - RBEGEMLEM AR - I
RREL MARBRORRVDANREN
BT MEEERBAN SRS HERR
EARBMU R BEEEH -

BRBERBHIAERRRRAE L
REEE
RIBMRIESSHE - I —IRAERNES B
REARETLRARAMBRA (ARRF
BRAGNREME) +9 2 —REREFES
BEEEBAFAARNEETTRAANNEEY
BEER BREFRIMBRBIAG -
PABRIE X BB T E 7 -

RIZARIFESSIE - MR EIRA G RIE
EUNIMALTRBRRARG L2EARAE
2 AEAGEREFERABASYNE LR
ROBCR (WIS BA L) BRBRE &
FRAEEZRZZATLENER - LM
EHAREATRZERTHEESLENRS 7
REARANERERLRNDBPELDRH
mER MZEBENEIMEARTHM
MERAENEEBSEAMEG  ATRFE
REZBRARGRITHHAICBAER -



Corporate Governance Report
TRERERE

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board and MHEESRHEARBBELIFE
Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries as mentioned above to the ~ BRE A KB THIFRIZH itdh ¢
following:

Address:  Anli Financial Communications Limited ik . ZREHLEANBRAF
Room 1901-02, 19/F, BB EFEA8-625%
Shanghai Industrial Investment Building EBEERE
48-62 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong 19%1901-02F

Tel: (852) 2325 6661 TEE© (852) 2325 6661

Fax: (852) 3956 4350 {88 © (852) 3956 4350

Email: Polyfair@anli.com.hk B4 ©  Polyfair@anli.com.hk

Shareholders are also welcome to make enquiries via the B B 78 A & @/ A 4 @\ #@ U
online message form available on the Company’s website at  www.polyfaircurtainwall.com.hk#g £ B 4% -
www.polyfaircurtainwall.com.hk and are reminded to lodge the BEXRKRREHEH  BHERRE—IHREXHEE
questions together with their contact information for the prompt  HERHEBZEER » UHAQRFRNEEEEL
response from the Company if it deems appropriate. The Company OB - ARG BE TS RIEE LD o
will not normally deal with anonymous enquiries.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY EEEZTLBE

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity = E=E& 2 M2018F1H25H BB BHEEE

Policy”) on 25 January 2018. The details are as follows: ZrntBER(EEFEZTBE]) - ARG

BT

1. Objective 1. BR
The Company recognises the importance of board diversity RAArRAEZEEZ T2 EEZN - H
which is beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s EFRREARRRIZER - EEE% T
performance. The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the FEEERIERE  NEREEFEK
approach with the objective of achieving diversity on the BMZ Tt -
Board.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Nomination Committee of the Company reviews and
assesses the Board composition on behalf of the Board and
recommends the appointment of new Directors. In addition
to its terms of reference, the Nomination Committee will also
take into account the following:

2.1 In designing and reviewing the Board’'s composition,
the Nomination Committee will consider from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service.

2.2 All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Currently, all Board members are male. In order to achieve
gender diversity on the Board level, the Board will appoint one
female Board member no later than 31 December 2024.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of
the Board annually in the corporate governance report of
the Company and monitor the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy. A summary of the Board Diversity Policy
together with the measurable objectives set for implementing
the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress made towards
achieving those objectives will be disclosed in the annual
corporate governance report of the Company.
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5. Review of the Board Diversity

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, which will include an assessment of
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy on an annual basis in accordance with code provision
B.1.3 of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) on 22 June 2018. The details are as
follows:

1. PURPOSE

This Director Nomination Policy aims to:

° set out the criteria and process in the nomination and
appointment of Directors;

o ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company; and

J ensure the Board continuity and appropriate leadership
at Board level.

2. SCOPE

The Director Nomination Policy applies to the Directors and
where applicable, senior management prepared for Board
positions under the succession planning of the Company.

3. RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for
selection and appointment of Directors to the Nomination
Committee.

Without prejudice to the authority and duties of the
Nomination Committee as set out in its terms of reference,
the ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of
Directors rests with the entire Board.
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4. NOMINATION AND APPOINTMENT OF
DIRECTORS

CRITERIA

4.1

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for
directorship, the following criteria should be considered:

Character and integrity.

Qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience and diversity
aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy.

Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving
diversity on the Board.

Requirement for the Board to have independent
Directors in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules
and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

Any potential contributions the candidate can
bring to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills,
experience, independence and gender diversity.

Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or
Board committee(s) of the Company.

Such other perspectives that are appropriate to
the Company’s business and succession plan and
where applicable, may be adopted and/or amended
by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee
from time to time for nomination of Directors and
succession planning.
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4.2 NOMINATION PROCESS

(a) Appointment of New Director

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should, upon receipt of the proposal
on appointment of new Director and the
biographical information (or relevant details)
of the candidate, evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above
to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

(i) If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each
candidate (where applicable).

(i) The Nomination Committee should then
recommend to the Board to appoint the
appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

(iv) For any person that is nominated by a
shareholder for election as a Director at
the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board should make recommendation to
shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
Director at the general meeting.
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(b) Re-election of Director at General
Meeting

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should review the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring
Director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should also review and determine whether
the retiring Director continues to meet the
criteria as set out above.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should then make recommendation
to shareholders in respect of the proposed
re-election of Director at the general
meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect
or re-elect a candidate as Director at the general
meeting, the relevant information of the candidate
will be disclosed in the circular to shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and/or
applicable laws and regulations.

MONITORING AND REPORTING

A summary of the Director Nomination Policy including
the nomination procedures and the process and
criteria adopted for selection and recommendation for
directorship, should be disclosed in the annual corporate
governance report of the Company.

REGULAR REVIEW

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review
on the structure, size and composition of the Board and
the Director Nomination Policy and where appropriate,
make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
business needs.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION
MECHANISM

The Company has adopted the board independence evaluation
mechanism on 2 June 2022. The details are as follows:

Objective

Continuing improvement and development of the Board and its
committee processes and procedures through Board independence
evaluation provides a powerful and valuable feedback mechanism
for improving Board effectiveness, maximising strengths,
and identifying the areas that need improvement or further
development.

The evaluation process also clarifies what actions of the Company
need to be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance,
for instance, addressing individual training and development needs
of each Director.

This mechanism is designed to ensure a strong independent
element on the Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises
independent judgment to better safeguard shareholders’ interests.

Mechanism

o Nomination Committee is established with clear terms
of reference to identify suitable candidates, including
independent non-executive Directors, for appointment as
Directors.

o Director Nomination Policy is in place with details of the
process and criteria of identifying, selecting, recommending,
cultivating and integrating new directorship.

° For independent non-executive Directors (“INED(s)"):

o} Every INED is required to confirm in writing to
the Company his/her independence upon his/her
appointment as Director with reference to such criteria
as stipulated in the Director Nomination Policy as well as
the GEM Listing Rules;
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o} Each INED has to declare his/her past or present financial
or other interests in the Group’s business as soon
as practicable, or his/her connection with any of the
Company’s connected persons (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules), if any;

o Each INED is required to inform the Company as soon as
practicable if there is any change in his/her own personal
particulars that may affect his/her independence.

The Nomination Committee will assess annually the
independence of all INEDs and affirm if each of them still
satisfies the criteria of independence as set out in the
GEM Listing Rules and is free from any relationships and
circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear
to affect, their independent judgement. Every Nomination
Committee member should abstain from assessing his/her
own independence.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual
as an INED at the general meeting, it will set out in the
circular to shareholders the reasons it believes he/she should
be elected and the reasons it considers him/her to be
independent.

A mechanism is in place for Directors to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense.

Directors are encouraged to access and consult with the
Company’s senior management independently, if necessary.

An annual review on Board independence (the “Board
Independence Evaluation”) will be conducted, with attention
to ensuring that it remains independent in judgement, and
continue to present an objective and constructive challenge
to the assumptions and viewpoints presented by the
management.

The Board Independence Evaluation may take in the form
of a questionnaire to all Directors individually and may be
supplemented by individual interview with each Director,
if necessary, and/or in any other manners which the Board
considers fit and necessary.
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o The Board Independence Evaluation report will be presented
to the Board which will collectively discuss the results and the
action plan for improvement, if appropriate.

o The results of the Board Independence Evaluation or a
summary of its findings will be disclosed in the annual
corporate governance report of the Company for
accountability and transparency purposes.

o The aforesaid Board Independence Evaluation will be regarded
as an ongoing exercise of the Company while the Company
may seek assistance from external consultant if an external
evaluation on the same subject is needed.

For the year ended 31 March 2022 and as at the date of this report,
the Board Independence Evaluation had been conducted by way of
completing a questionnaire by all Directors. The results of the Board
Independence Evaluation are summarized as follows:

1. The Board as a whole possesses the skills and range
of experience needed to adequately fulfill its fiduciary
responsibilities, more reliably hold management to account,
and better safeguard shareholders’ interests.

2. Board meetings are conducted in a manner that allows open
communication, meaningful participation (including in-depth
discussion and resolutions of issues).

3. AIlINEDs bring independent judgement to bear on the Board's
deliberations.

4. All INEDs have actively participated in all Board meetings and
committees’ meetings; and raised governance and ethical
issues to the Board.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the "Dividend Policy")
on 12 November 2018.

1. PURPOSE

The Dividend Policy aims to set out the principles and
guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to
the declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits as
dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

2. PRINCIPLES AND GUIDELINES

2.1 The Board adopts the Dividend Policy that, in
recommending or declaring dividends, the Company
shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its
working capital requirements and future growth as well
as its shareholder value.

2.2 The Company does not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio.

2.3 The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute
dividends to the shareholders of the Company, subject
to the Articles and all applicable laws and regulations
and the factors set out below.

2.4 The Board shall also take into account the following
factors of the Group when considering the declaration
and payment of dividends:

. financial results;

. cash flow situation;

. business conditions and strategies;

o future operations and earnings;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;

o interests of shareholders;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

o any other factors that the Board may consider
relevant.
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2.5 Depending on the financial conditions of the Company 25 BWIRRFRAKEBE R BACR
and the Group and the conditions and factors as set out Uk EMEHREREZ EFa20k
above, dividends may be proposed and/or declared by MHRFESHEERER HKEIR T
the Board for a financial year or period: FIRR B
e interim dividend; o  HHIRE
e final dividend; e  FERE:

e special dividend; and e HRIKRE R
e any distribution of net profits that the Board may s MFAEZFERREERFAH
deem appropriate. HDIR ©

2.6 Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to 26 HAFEREHBEBBRFERE -
shareholders’ approval.

2.7 The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of 27 ARAANEZERRGENNT
cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers AERREENRE - BERe MR
appropriate. BERMFHEMARN -

2.8 Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall 2.8 (R RBE G AR B 4% 1E R K
revert to the Company in accordance with the Articles. RIEMAAERRAT -

REVIEW OF THE DIVIDEND POLICY 3. REEEEE

The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from EFefTHEERRERARBEK -

time to time.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. A shareholder’'s communication policy was adopted by
the Board at the Board meeting held on 25 January 2018 aiming
to provide to the shareholders and potential investors with ready
and timely access to balanced and understandable information
of the Company. Extensive information about the Company’s
activities is provided in its interim report, quarterly reports and this
annual report, which are sent to shareholders of the Company.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings. At the annual general meeting,
directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet
shareholders and answer their enquiries. The notice of the annual
general meeting is distributed to all shareholders at least 21
days before the meeting. Separate resolutions are proposed at
general meetings on each separate issue and voting of which is
taken by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. Results of the
poll are published on both the Stock Exchange's website and the
Company’s website. All corporate communication with shareholders
will be posted on the Company’s website for shareholders’
information. The Company reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders' communication policy and
considered them to be effective.

The Company has not made any changes to its Articles for the year
ended 31 March 2022. An up-to-date version of the Articles is
also available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A

BRRREEBE REEHBR

RNARRAERREIEBRE MNEIRE &R
BREEEHAESEERERBERRENT
fEREEZ  -EELE MN2018F1 5250 &
TNESE SR RN —ERERMEE -
EEFERERBERESEERNE ST R
EESARA2EASRERNER - BEK
NENESNFEERERTE T ARRAKRE
R RS TERERAFIHRA - KA F]
MO FERENFEYE LER2EBR
HBEFREMEMBRAE - EFHERK
(ER)RBRRBFAS FHEEESHE - I
EEEH BREAFAGHNBERATET
ZHEL2IEZBADETFR2ERE - BRI
GEMLEMRA » ARAREHZBLEEN K
FARELREEBIAGRE  UUKREFAE
TR o 18 4k R @ AR X BT AR A K AR A ) A8 Uk
N MREFEHNE QR RIBMGEERR
ARG AEREER - AR EERR
REBHROERMKRALRAEEITZAER -

HE2022F3A31BILFE - AR AT EE
48 B VE H TS 2R - 48 BIJ Y S 37 il 48 A PR AR
DAL R B R AT AR S A B o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THE REPORT

The Company is pleased to present this Environment,
Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) on the
environmental, social, and governance (the “ESG") aspects
with the initiative of outlining selected key performance
indicators (the “KPI(s)"), in accordance with the guidelines of
Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

In this ESG Report, the Company strives to disclose its policies
and practices towards the ESG aspects of the Group in
Hong Kong during the Reporting Period. All information and
data disclosed herein were based on formal documents and
internal statistics of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Company is principally
engaged in investment holding. The principal activities
of the Group include the provision of design and project
management services for facade and installation of curtain
wall systems in Hong Kong.

BOARD OVERSIGHT

A strong governance framework is key to ensuring the
ESG issues that the Group faces are incorporated into our
corporate agenda. To ensure our key management oversight
of ESG issues, sustainability governance is integrated into
corporate governance structures throughout the Group, from
Board level committees to management level group functions
and operation units.
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GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE- THE BOARD AND
ESG COMMITTEE

The Group conducts a top-down management approach regarding
its ESG issues. The Board oversees and develops ESG strategy and
reporting, is dedicated in enhancing our ESG commitments and
data collection systems, and has approved this ESG report.

To develop a systematic management approach for ESG issues, the
Group has established an ESG committee chaired by an Executive
Director and composed of various department heads from finance,
human resources and operation functions to manage the Group's
ESG matters.

The ESG Committee periodically holds meetings for identifying,
assessing and monitoring the Group’s ESG risk. It also examines
and reviews the Group’s ESG performance against the Group’s ESG
related goals and targets.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

MANAGEMENT APPROACH AND ESG
POLICIES

The Group incorporated corporate, environmental and social
responsibilities into its business strategies to promote healthy
entertainment and integration of society, contribute to
environmental sustainability, achieve healthy and harmonious
developments of its staff as well as continue to create
long-term value for its stakeholders. During the Reporting
Period, the Company has implemented relevant ESG policies,
which:

J are in compliance with the requirements of the relevant
laws and regulations on corporate ESG that have a
significant impact to the Group’s business;

o continue to facilitate social integration by actively
implementing the concept of “eliminating racial
discrimination and building a harmonious society”;

J encourage the employees to raise their awareness
towards "energy and resource savings”, support
and promote energy saving and emission reduction
measures;

J integrate green philosophy into the development of the
Group and ensure the Group is in compliance with the
environmental laws and regulations; and

o strive to establish healthy and harmonious relationships
with its employees, shareholders, suppliers and other
stakeholders.
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IV. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Company consistently values the stakeholders that are
influenced by the Group’s operational activities including
clients, suppliers, employees, community groups and
government bodies, etc. We communicate irregularly through
various communication channels with each other in order
to build up a mutual understanding of each other’s vision
and expectation on environmental and social responsibility.
With reference to these, the Company develops a designated
environmental and social responsibility framework and sets
long-term objectives for the sustainable development of the

EEAS R

ARR—HERXIAKREELED
TENEDA BEEP HE® &
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Company.
Major Stakeholders Communications Channel Expectations
TEEREA BERE HE
Government - Inspection in daily operating - Compliance with the law
B - Letter from the Government - Tax payment
- REERLBEPRE - ETER
- DU - AR
Shareholders - General meetings - Corporate image
RE - Information disclosed on website and - Economic performance
Stock Exchange - BEFEXR
- BREX® - KEXRR
- PR REZARENER
Customers - Meeting with customers - Environmental protection
EF - Communication by email/telephone - Product/service quality
- BREP - RERE
- BR/EFER - Em/RBEZR
Employees - Meeting with management - Occupational safety
-] - Training - Remuneration benefits
- BRERE - BEZ2
s - ZhEe
Suppliers or subcontractors -  Business visits - Payment on time
HERS 2 Ef - Communication by email/telephone - Operating conditions
- A%RED - EEAR
- BB/EFER - EEMRR
Communities — Charitable activities - Protecting the nature
HE - Sponsorship - Social responsibility
- KEEY - REER
- BB - HEAME
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MATERIALITY AND REPORTING BOUNDARY

To ensure that this report addresses the issues that are
critical to the Group and significant to our stakeholders, we
have conducted a materiality assessment. This will help us to
identify improvements in our corporate social responsibility
work.

The ESG committee has analyzed those information,
compared with industry reference and evaluated them in
accordance with the principles of materiality, quantitative
and consistency. The Group applies a consistent methodology
in setting out relevant materiality level, quantitatively
measurement and reporting scope.

The scope of this ESG report included our major business
segment-provision of design and project management
services for facade and installation of curtain wall systems
covering our headquarters in Hong Kong and design house in
Shenzhen.

The Board has reviewed and approved the assessment of the
ESG committee and then disclosed the result in this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group aims to protect the environment by minimizing
environmental adverse impacts in daily operations, such as
energy-saving and recycling of office resources. The Group
will continue to seek for better environmental practices
and promote the right environmental attitudes within the
organisation. In general, the Group endeavours to:

o comply with relevant laws and regulations and target to
achieve beyond minimum requirements;

o avoid or minimise air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous wastes;

. make efficient use of resources;

o minimise negative impact of the Group’s activities to the
environment; and

° promote the stakeholders to go green and re-assess
their operations environmentally.

V1.
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A1 EMISSION

Emissions refer to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes.

As the Group is principally engaged in the provision of design
and project management services for facade and installation
of curtain wall systems in Hong Kong, there were neither
significant levels of pollutants discharged into water and land
nor significant generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes during the Reporting Period. The main contributor to
the Group’s carbon footprint is greenhouse gas emissions
caused indirectly by electricity consumption in the office.

We promote energy efficiency and emission reduction in all
operational processes. Nevertheless, the Group is committed
to protect the environment by seeking to reduce the impact
on the environment, especially regarding the reduction of
greenhouse gas emissions and preservation of resources.

To achieve this, the Group has adopted various measures to
lower waste and consumption levels in our office and other
facilities:

- limit air-conditioning hours and maintain suitable indoor
temperature;

- switch off photocopiers, printers and computers after
office hours;

- unplug all equipment chargers and adapters when they
are not in use so as to reduce power consumption; and

- clean the air conditioning and ventilation system
regularly.

There are no relevant laws and regulations applicable to the
Group's businesses on this aspect.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

As minimum environment impact results from the Group’s
operation, KPIs A1.3 Hazardous waste produced, A1.4
Non-hazardous waste produced and A1.6 Waste management
are immaterial to the Group's operation and have not been
disclosed in this ESG Report.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s greenhouse
gas emission from energy indirect emissions (Scope 2)
resulting from electricity consumption were approximately
33.0 tonnes of carbon dioxide ("CO,").

The greenhouse gas emissions were approximately 33.0
tonnes of CO, in total and approximately 282kg of CO, per
employee.

Emission
=

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emission

BE #E8REAHRSE
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Year ended 31 March 2022

A1.2BRERBE IR BE2022F3A/31BLFE
Scope 2 - indirect emission — CO, 33.0 tonnes
FE2 - PP — —R1LHK 33.0MF
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A2 USE OF RESOURCES A2 EiREHA

The Group has implemented paperless concept in the internal REBAERNFANEREEBEPFT
human resources management processes. It includes paperless BALES  EEXFBRINERAANA
employee pay advice and company internal notice. In EBmAE ML o AN - AR B AR
addition, the use of recycled paper for printing and copying, HEITENR A EN - EmEENR RAEENTRE
double-sided printing and copying have become the Group's BAREBEAIBED - ZZEEHARK
internal practices. These practices greatly reduced paper PR SRBRE R A - NEBT KRS
consumption and cost. The Group regularly collects and NAEHEITED M P R 8UE « ARSI AR (b
evaluates printer usage data to monitor the effectiveness of IRIFHIRCRN ©

the paperless environment.

In order to reduce unnecessary usage and improve the RFOT VR EMEREIRILIESEA

efficient use of resources, the Group has established the wo NEEDHIE SR EER] K

“energy and resource savings” policy, under which: x® B

e lights and electronic appliances in the workplace must . AEAEAGCANITIESMERER
be turned off when they are not in use; BRI

e limit air-conditioning hours and maintain suitable indoor e RAEITEAFHAREFTEE R
temperature;

e computers, photocopy machines, printers and other o  BINTHSREREESE =
office equipment must be turned off when the staff are ENHe ~ FTENME R B N 2= 2k s -

off duty or on leave;

e turn off lighting and air-conditioning when the guest s NEREHERBEAZ=SH R
room is vacant; and

e use of recyclable resources, e.g. recycled paper. e (FAFAEKER FIINEER -
The Group will continuously monitor and manage the use of REERBEFERREEERNER -
resources in order to reduce its operating costs as well as its LA B AR B & 3B A AN R Bk 2 B o

carbon footprints.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

As there is no issue in sourcing water, KPl A2.4 has not been
disclosed in this ESG Report. Further, as only immaterial
water and packaging material were consumed in the Group's
operation, KPI A2.2 and KPI A2.5 are not applicable to the
Group and has not been disclosed in this ESG Report.

Use of resources

ERER

BE #E8REAHRSE

AP AN S B 7 SR EUE A KRB S B B B
A& WARE LS RERRS
I 4 TR AR AR ARIEAEA2.4 o AN - AR
EEMEBERERELENKKEBEMN
B BRESIRIZA2 2R ARENUEEZ
A25STERARAERE  MARE g
MERARETTHE -

ENERGY CONSUMPTION - Electricity
BREE-ED

Total Electricity consumption (Kwh)

BheEe (TREF)

Total Electricity consumption per employee (Kwh)
BEEEEHEFEE (TRE)

ENERGY CONSUMPTION

BEIROHAE

Total energy consumption — Electricity (MJ)
BERBRREE—EN OKEFR)

Total energy consumption per employee (MJ)
BHEERREMRE OKEH)

PAPER CONSUMPTION

RA#EE

Total office paper consumption (KG)
MmARmEREE (Tr)

Total office paper consumption per employee (KG)
BEEENLABAEEFEE (TR)

Year ended 31 March 2022
BE2022F3A31HLFE
around 47,000 Kwh
#747,000F FLBS

around 400 Kwh

#1400F FLES

Year ended 31 March 2022
BZ2022F3A318LEE
around 168,000 MJ
#7168,000kfEH

around 1,400 MJ

491,400k EFH

Year ended 31 March 2022
BZE2022F3A31HLFE
around 2,900 KG
#72,900F 5%

around 25 KG

#25F 5%
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RE -#EBRERRSE

A3 ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group promotes environmental awareness among
our employees and encourages them to work in an
environmentally responsible manner. To further promote
environmentally friendly office conditions, the following
methods are used:

1. all used printer cartridges are returned to the supplier
for recycling;

2. recycling bins are placed in the offices’ common areas to
separately collect waste paper for recycling;

3.  employees are encouraged to print double-sided
documents to reduce paper usage; and

4. make sure its business operation complies with the
environmental law in Hong Kong and its operating
locations.

A4 CLIMATE CHANGE

The Group takes reference to the recommendations of the
Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosure (“TCFD")
in identifying and disclosing the potential impacts of
climate-related risks on the Group. We have assessed the
following risks:

Physical risks

o acute physical risk which arises from a particular event,
such as storm, flood or fire that may damage production
facilities and disrupt value chains; and

o chronic physical risk which arises from longer-term
changes in the climate, such as temperature changes,
and rising sea levels.
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Transition risks

o policy risk, for example, energy efficiency requirements;

o legal risk, for example, risk of litigation for failing to
avoid or minimize adverse impacts on the climate;

o technology risk, for example, a technology with a less
damaging impact on the climate replaces a technology
that is more damaging to the climate;

. market risk, for example, the choices of consumers shift
towards products and services that are less damaging to
the climate; and

. reputational risk, for example, the difficulty of attracting
and retaining customers and business partners if a
company has reputation for damaging the climate.

Based on the on-going assessment of the Group, it is believed
that the Group is subject to low physical risk and transition
risks.

SOCIAL
B1 EMPLOYMENT

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a total number of
117 employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group is
committed to providing a fair and respectful workplace for
our employees. The Group ensures our human resources
policies are in compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations and with reference to the general practice and
benchmark of the industry. A comprehensive system of
remuneration, incentive and performance management
system has been established to attract and retain talents for
our long-term and stable growth. The system consists of basic
salary, legal and extra benefits (i.e. mandatory provident fund,
medical and other insurance, annual leave, sick leave and
various subsidies), and monetary rewards (i.e. discretionary
bonus) for the employees.
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The Group understands that the employees are its most
important asset. The Group has established a human resource
policy, under which:

o employees are reviewed annually on a performance basis
with reference to the market standards for consideration
of promotion and/or reward;

o in order to promote a harmonious and mutual respect
working environment, a staff manual is established to
govern the recruitment, promotion, discipline, working
hours and leaves. The staff manual also stipulates the
anti-discrimination policies and employees’ code of
conduct;

o clear work processes according to professional and

ethical labour practices have been clearly communicated
to all employees. Certain policies to govern employees’
affairs such as payroll, attendance and termination are
clearly set out in staff appointment letters in compliance
with the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
laws of Hong Kong); and

diversity of workforce is promised, including in terms
of age, gender and nationality, as well as a culture of
equal opportunity. The management regularly reviews
the Group’s remuneration policy in relation to relevant
market standards.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any

non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and
other benefits and welfare.
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Environmental, Socia

B1 EMPLOYMENT B1 EfE
As at 31 March 2022, all of the employees of the Group R2022F3A31H  "EEMEREEY
are permanent staff and the distribution of workforce is AERET  BISMmHBANT

summarised as follows:

Age distribution Gender
5l

18-30 31-40 _41 -50 . 51-60 _Over 60 . Male . Female
18-305%  31-405%  41-505% 51-605% 605FIA L S 7t
As at 31 March 2022, the employee turnover of the Group is M202293A318  AEEEERELE
summarised as follows: wagn s
Number Rate
HK Region EBME AE b &
AGE DISTRIBUTION FEoM
18-30 18-305% 4 67%
31-40 31-408% 13 59%
41-50 41-507% 14 56%
51-60 51-605% 5 29%
Over 60 605% A 3 38%
GENDER 4 Bl
Male S 28 48%
Female eqc3 11 55%
Total et
Employee turnover BEMRAZE 39 50%
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Number Rate
PRC Region Pl ith @ AE b=
AGE DISTRIBUTION FRoMM
18-30 18-305% 0 0%
31-40 31-405% 4 13%
41-50 41-505% 0 0%
51-60 51-60%% 0 0%
Over 60 605% A 0 0%
GENDER % 5l
Male Bt 13%
Female M 0 0%
Total et
Employee turnover EERAE 4 13%

B2 HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group always emphasises the importance of occupational
health and safety. Workplace health and safety policies have
been established in compliance with applicable local laws and
laws in the mainland China. Assessments on these policies
are conducted regularly to keep our standards updated and
practical. For any potential problems that may jeopardise
our employees’ health and safety, the Group implements
protective and improvement measures to minimise any
incidents. The measures taken are listed below:

o provide auxiliary tools e.g. trolley, pump-action water
dispenser, ladder, etc;

° set up safety warning signs, banners and slogans in the
work sites;

o organizing a series of training in relation to occupational
safety;

o conduct emergency response drills regularly;

. install fire extinguishers, sprinklers, hose reels and
smoke detectors;
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

o prohibit smoking and drinking liquor in the workplace;
J arranging regular pest control; and

o supporting team members to achieve a healthy work-life
balance.

Appropriate measures will be continuously taken by the Group
to improve the safety and health of the employees in the
workplace.

Special note on measures against COVID-19

In relation to the COVID-19, the Group and operations
have fulfilled all the lockdown and quarantine requirements
imposed in Hong Kong. In addition, we have also established
necessary precaution measures, including regularly sanitizing
our workplace premises, allowing flexible working place
and hours, minimizing socializing, requiring mask-wearing
and setting up a reporting policy to timely report suspected
or confirmed inflection cases of our employees and their
associates.

During the Reporting Period, there was one material accidents
in the course of our business operation which gave rise
to one claims and compensation paid to our employees.
The compensation paid was covered by the insurance. The
Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

BE #E8REAHRSE

o TRSMEELE
s REPEHHB R

s XEREBREBERBEMNIFEE
IERL I

o

AEERGEERIVEE
EIRSAMLEEEE

\

e - BER

B R & ¥ 7 7 % 15 46 e A9 4 B 3 B

HIEEE  AREREKLEEDHET
REBERNDAAER KIREBERE © It
Hh - BPITMESIE L E EER - B
EHHTIESMES A BT IED
R BERIOAZEE - HEM
HASRE i#&iﬂl% LA R B R 5 R
BRI ERE AR LS D R A E

ER

RBEHE  AREREHEERRET
BAE-RBEEBN  BH-EBRLKRA
BEXXNHE -FANHEESBRRE
B ARBY THBERHLZETIER
BEERERBESBEERENETE
SERHAREREATENEREZE
FOER BB R

Annual Report 2022 —Z=—=F% 61



62

INDICATOR

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE -HERERKRSE

it

Year ended 31 March 2022
BIE2022F3A31HLLFE

Number of work-related fatalities
in each of the past three years'

Rate of fatalities as a result of work-related

injury (per hundred workers) 2

Number of reportable work injury 3

BEZFEFHNRATTH
AE

AT BERMILT LR
(LA1005% 48 A Bt
H)?

BTHRBIEREC

Number of lost days due to work injury *

AT HBEKHTERH

No work-related fatalities
occurred in past three years
BEZFIEBELERATTHER
2020 - 2022: 0%
2020 £ 20225 : 0%

1
204 dayH

Hong Kong work-related fatalities defined with reference to
circumstances in which an employer is liable for compensation
under the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, (Chapter 282
of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Rate of fatalities as a result of work-related injury (per hundred
workers) = Number of fatalities as a result of work-related
injury/Number of workers* 100

Reportable injuries refer to work-related accidents to employees
resulting in incapacity for a period exceeding three days in
Hong Kong or PRC

Lost days refer to the days that could not be worked as a
consequence of a worker being unable to perform their usual
work because an occupational accident or disease.
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B3 DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Being a facade and curtain wall work solutions provider
in Hong Kong, the Group recognises the importance of
professionalism and competence of its staff. The main
objective of training and development in the Group is to help
develop key competencies which enable individuals to perform
current or future jobs successfully.

The training and development programmes will be geared
towards the following objectives:

- strengthening the job skills’/knowledge of employees;
- improving operational efficiency and productivity; and/or

- developing the potential of employees for maximizing
mutual benefit to individuals and the Group.

Types of training or development activities conducted

- employee-initiated training/development activities may
include external programmes that are organized by
external training institutes, or by the Group; and

- employer-initiated programmes may take the form of
offering sponsorship for employees to attend external
programmes or organising such programmes in-house.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group made full use of
internal resources to organise various forms of training
covering management, customer service, financial, etc. to the
employees.

RERR AEEXOMNBARABE
R REBSHER TPIR® MK
FEENZELAFI -

Male Female
% of employees trained ZiEETED B Z
Key management TEERE 100% N/AA i A
Back office &a 2% 6%
Front line operation unit BIAR TG BN 5% -
Average hours completed BEHAEEZRZIN Male Female
per employee TR B i
Key management TEERE 6.25 N/A i A
Back office (3= 0.47 11.94
Front line operation unit Al AR R TS B (L 14.16 -

B4 LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group fully understands that the exploitation of child
and forced labour are universally prohibited, and therefore
takes the responsibility against child and forced labour very
seriously. The Group prohibits any child and forced labour
in its operations. A system of comprehensive recruitment
processes is established requiring background checks to be
conducted on candidates and formalised reporting procedures
to address any exceptions found. The Group also performs
regular reviews and inspections to detect the existence of any
child or forced labour in the operations. In the meantime, the
Group also avoids engaging vendors of administrative supplies
and services and contractors that are known to employ child
or forced labour in their operations.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to preventing child or forced labour on
the Group during the Reporting Period. In addition, no
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
resulted in significant fines or sanctions had been reported in
the Reporting Period.
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B5 SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group’s general business suppliers include providers of
fabricated products, aluminium and steel, glass, installation
work and design services for construction projects.

The Group believes that the quality of its products and
services, as well as its reputation, will be influenced by the
work with its suppliers. Therefore, the Group has established
procurement policy to maintain high level of ethical standards
for choosing the right supplier through careful selection
and continuous measurement. The Group conducts reviews
on key suppliers annually so as to provide an opportunity
to suppliers to enhance their services and products quality,
which improves both the suppliers and our procurement
management effectively.

In selecting new suppliers, the Group compares at least
three different companies, keeps environmentally preferable
products and services as an important indicator and
emphasises the legal compliance and integrity culture
of suppliers’ operations, beyond cost considerations.
On-site inspections and research are conducted before the
commencement of business with suppliers, and there are no
child labour or forced labour issues. The examination and
evaluation results will be used as the basis for continuation or
termination of cooperation in the future. The ESG committee
would monitor the status of environmentally preferable
products and services and report to the Board.

As of 31 March 2022, the Group is engaged with 115
material suppliers and 25 sub-contractors. Our Executive
Director, Procurement department and Quantity Surveyor
team work together to monitor the performance and quality
of our suppliers and sub-contractors.

The number of suppliers/sub-contractors by geographical
region is as follows:
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B6 PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

A high priority for the Group is to ensure customer
satisfaction in terms of our products and services. Strenuous
efforts are made to ensure compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations relating to product health and safety,
intellectual property right, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters of the jurisdictions in which the Group operates. The
Group’s code of conduct requires its employees to comply
with applicable governmental and regulatory laws, rules,
codes and regulations.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to health and safety, intellectual property
rights, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to services provided and methods of redress during the
Reporting Period. The Group has in-house rules governing
the work procedures for the projects in order to ensure
work quality. The Group considers that the quality of works
generally depends on the quality of building materials
supplied and installation works performed by sub-contractors
at construction sites, which in turn are generally controlled by
the Group’s quality control measures on suppliers, including:
(i) ensuring sufficient planning prior to executing the project
to ensure that quality control measures and procedures are
in place; (ii) maintaining a list of approved suppliers and
only engaging those on the list; and (iii) conducting sample
inspections on building materials supplied based on the
technical specifications of the relevant projects. Building
materials that are defective or do not meet the specifications
will be returned to the suppliers.

During the Reporting Period, our Group did not receive any
material complaint or demand for any kind of compensation
from the customers, or recalls for safety and health reasons in
relation to the products and services.

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A

B6 EmE1E

BREFPMEERMRBEHASEEE
% - AEEB I BREERERRELR
2 ABERE BES BEMEFE
FEETAREE S EMRERDERERANE
AR RER - AEREMITRTAIZER
BREEBTERBNREEAR  RA-
SFRIBOER o

RIS HIE - AEBE YL A MBI LR
HRFB R AN EREL S
MBER B SREAREETE
TETEAHAEEBEEAZENN
R IMERAENR - A EERE R
MR REEE TIFREFARRIIEE
ZoAEERS ITREZ—RIVAR
DERRENEZEMHRE Uk B
BREEMRETHNLRIRER - &
EMs XA AKREYHERERNEE
ERREEMEE 85 OEERRIT
HERRMRE  UNEREEESEE
B RIEF  (VFERAHERRE
WRERERE LHHER  Rii)RiE
HHRATA B MR AR IS i S R Ay
REME - FHERIEE R RBHERE
PR G R m T o

RIRE R - AR EERES N
7 BALR B H A AER B - T
mEZ:REFHENEEERRR
7 o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Company has adopted the anti-corruption policy on 2
June 2022. Corruption, bribery or fraud in any form is strictly
prohibited. The Group’s anti-corruption policies set out
standards of conduct to which all employees are required to
adhere in order to promote the integrity of the workplace.

To combat corruption and to govern conflicts of interest,
ICAC seminars available to all Hong Kong staff on
anti-corruption have been conducted. In addition, unless
with prior approval from senior management, employees
should not give or accept any gifts, gratuities, favours or
benefits that are beyond common courtesies with accepted
business practices or any excessive entertainment. Breaches
are subject to disciplinary actions, including the termination of
employment contracts where necessary.

We aim to maintain the highest standards of openness,
uprightness and accountability and all our staff are expected
to observe the highest standards of ethical, personal and
professional conduct. We do not tolerate corruption, bribery,
extortion, money-laundering and other fraudulent activities in
connection with any of our business operations.

The Company has adopted the whistleblowing policy on
2 June 2022 for reporting any improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control, suspected or actual fraud or other
matters. Whistleblower can drop an email directly to the
Audit Committee. If they prefer, they can choose to use an
anonymous email address to report the matters.

The chairman of the Audit Committee can call for a meeting
with the Board to investigate the reported matters.

The Board may also decide whether the Group needs to
appoint an external consultant (including professional parties,
ICAC or police, etc.) to deal with the reported matters.
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The Group is not aware of any potential or confirmed cases
regarding corruption practices brought against the Group or
its employees during the Reporting Period. No whistleblowing
disclosures were received during the Reporting Period. The
Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

B8 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is constantly aware of the needs of the community
and is ready to try its best to contribute to the community by
participating in and sponsoring community activities.

In addition, the Group encourages and supports its staff to
participate in volunteer services during leisure time.
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The Directors are pleased to present this Directors’ report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Since 2006, the
Group has mainly engaged as a subcontractor that provides facade
and curtain wall works solutions in Hong Kong. Details of the
principal activities of the Group’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022
are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report. The Group’s revenue for the year was derived
mainly from activities carried out in Hong Kong. An analysis
of the Group’s revenue for the year is set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2022, assessment of the principal risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group, particulars of important events affecting the
Group that have occurred subsequent to the end of the year as
well as indication of likely future development in the business
of the Group are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. In addition, the
Group’s environmental policy, compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have significant impact of the Group and key
relationships with its stakeholders are set out in this Directors’
Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 167 of
this annual report.

The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: nil).

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 90 of this annual report
respectively.
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EEEHRE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’'s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately
HK$13,670,000. Such amount represented share premium net of
accumulated losses of the Company, which may be distributable
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions undertaken by the
Group during the year in the ordinary course of business are set out
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following transaction between certain connected persons (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) and the Company had been
entered into or are ongoing for which relevant announcement, if
necessary, had been made by the Company in accordance with
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2022, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen and two companies
controlled by Mr. Chow Mo Lam or his close family members
(namely, Polyfaith Holdings Limited and Polykind Far East Limited),
had pledged their properties to secure banking facilities granted to
certain subsidiaries within the Group for nil consideration.

Pursuant to Rule 20.88 of the GEM Listing Rules, such transaction
is exempted from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the requirements in Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the above financial assistance
received.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statement constitutes
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Prior to the Listing, the Company had conditionally adopted a
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) which became
unconditional and effective on the Listing Date. Particulars of the
Share Option Scheme are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report. No share option has been
granted under the Share Option Scheme since the Listing Date,
nor was there any share option outstanding, exercised cancelled or
lapsed as at the date of this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, no rights to subscribe for equity or debt
securities of the Company have been granted to or exercised by any
Directors or their associates since the effective date of the Share
Option Scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the years ended 31 March 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021 and
2022, is set out on page 168 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors for the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman)
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Man

Independent non-executive Directors:

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah
Mr. Man Yun Yee
Mr. Wong Chi Yung

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Chow Mo
Lam (executive Director) and Mr. Man Yun Yee (independent
non-executive Director) shall retire and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the INEDs were appointed for a specific term of three years
and subject to the relevant provisions of the Articles or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from
their office.

Each of the INEDs, Mr. Wong Chi Yung and Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah,
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company with a term
of three years in 2018 and renewed his letter of appointment for
a term of three years from 23 February 2021 until terminated by
not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either party
on the other. Another INED, Mr. Man Yun Yee, also entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company with a term of three years
on 12 February 2020 until terminated by not less than one month's
notice in writing served by either party on the other.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence from the Group, and as at the date of this
report still considers them to be independent pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors, Mr. Chow Mo Lam, Mr. Yu Lap On
Stephen and Mr. Wong Kam Man, entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years in 2018 and renewed
his service agreements for a term of three years from 23 February
2021 until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Particulars of the emoluments of the Directors on a named basis
for the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company did not enter
into or have any management and administration contracts in
respect of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company.

DIRECTORS" MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party, or in which a Director or its connected entities had a material
interest (whether directly or indirectly) subsisted at the end of the
Reporting Period or at any time during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective close associates (not being the INEDs) are considered
to have interests in the businesses which compete or are likely to
compete with the businesses of the Group pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors and every one of them
is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which the Directors or any of them, shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty in their
offices or otherwise in relation thereto provided that this indemnity
shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
which may attach to any of the Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance throughout the Reporting Period which provides
appropriate cover for legal actions brought against the Directors.

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022 the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which are required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO, including interests and/or short positions which they
are deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO, or
which will be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

(a) Interests in shares of the Company

& R Y T R 3L

REAAN 2BESERET-REFTHARK
FHEPEAM - ARTHRELEBREIE
A EBERETMNERITERT S X
ARERBRXRENMARA BF WE-
BR BEERX RARAEETESHE
B EANRERBEL TEHMEREMEELR
FATRETAERNEIMNER -

ARAAREBEREHHECBERERESTE
ERE A HERROERFRERE

BRE -

EERBEITHRAERRS A
EROREEENEER KR

MR2022F3A31H  ARFEZERE&EE T
ABSHES BB E ARER B P H B
EE(EEREBH LB EGEHEXVEL) B
- HERNYREEEY  BEEREBEESR
HEIEHIEXVESHET R8N BAME R AF K
BMRXEMEGTIAR (BEESREES R
B GO B BIESCEEER R B ER
BN BRR)  UIRBEFREEHE
352G AR AZIEFTIE S R MRS A R -
IR IEGEM E TR B 555.46 =5.6714E 517
MERNT REZFHNERSOABFRIIOT -

(a) RERDFRHHWER

Percentage of

Number of shareholding in
Name of Director Capacity Long/short Position shares held the Company
RERQEH
Esps 54 HR/ KR FEROEEA REBDLL
Mr. Chow Mo Lam Interest of controlled Long position 600,000,000 75%
corporation Shares (el
ARMELE REnEER S e 600,000,000
H§1ﬁ(W§I)
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Note: 600,000,000 shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings

Limited, a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with
limited liability, which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr.
Chow") as to 83% and by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu")
as to 17%. Both Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu are executive Directors.
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow is deemed to be interested in

GEE
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the 600,000,000 shares held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited. Each
of Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings Limited is regarded
as a Controlling Shareholder.

(b) RALBEBEER G ER

(b) Interests in shares of the associated corporation
of the Company

Percentage of

shareholding in

Name of associated Number of the associated

corporation Name of Director Capacity Long/short Position shares held corporation

il Ll

BB EEAR 38 at e/ KR FrERHBEA RERDL

CN.Y. Holdings Limited Mr. Chow Mo Lam Beneficial Owner Long position 83 shares Mo 83%
KBERARAA REMEE ERAA ) 83 fp

CN.Y. Holdings Limited Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen  Beneficial Owner Long position 17 shares e 17%
KBRRERAT RURKE ERARA e 178 R {3

Mzt ©  600,000,0000% i% 15 fa ok B2 R B
RAR(—RHREBRELZESTM
RIZBBRAR) BEERA - MK
BRIERAER A B HBARKEE ([
EE)RRILZRE (THREE]D
DRNEE83I% M1 7% MR o FLAE
RREEHABPITES - RIEFES
NEAEED) - BAEEREER KA
7 A% A IR X B #5 B #9600,000,000
MREE D R B ELZE - BfE - R
ERKBERERAFDSAERRS
PERRARER -

Note: 600,000,000 shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings
Limited, a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with
limited liability, which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr.
Chow") as to 83% and by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu")
as to 17%. Both Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu are executive Directors.
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow is deemed to be interested in
the 600,000,000 shares held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited. Each
of Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings Limited is regarded
as a Controlling Shareholder.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company or their respective
associates had any interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares, convertible notes or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange as at
31 March 2022.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” in this report, as at 31 March 2022, so far
as was known to any Directors or chief executive of the Company,
the interests which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or of whom were deemed to be directly
or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued capital of

Br ESCPATIR EE & SN 0 7A20229F3A31H -
EANFREETRESTHAESIEESTEN
HEARAR RS EE AL EBARG
KRG  TRREBENEREFR - BN
20229 3A31HE R ARR AR B & FH & 5
EIEDIZE3521677 B B &S R A (i Mok
B NEMFMNgRNAR RERAAAE
A RAR -

TERRRRONEERAXR

BARE[EERETTRABRES - 15E
B kEEZNRESRAR ]| —BAIEES
AN FA202253A318 AR RIEMESE
xS ITHRABIAM  RIEFESRBEED
EXVEPE2M3DEAREN L - W EE
BEESEEREARR B EITRAS%IA
A - SURIEESF R BN 336188

the Company, or which were recorded in the register of interests B ERELMAALEENEZ D HMER
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO or have been NAINE=AT
notified to the Company were as follows:
Percentage of
Number of shareholding in
Name of Shareholders Capacity Long/short Position shares held the Company
RAEDTH
RREB, A L) BE/ KR RO EE REFDL
C.N.Y. Holdings Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) Long position 600,000,000 (ote D 75%
XBERBRAA BB A M) A 600,000,000/
IR AYCELD
Ms. Hau Pak Sui Interest of spouse (Note 2)  Long position 600,000,000 MNote 2 75%
RASKL R (Mat2) HE 600,000,000
Rg 45 (i)
Notes: M 5T
1. 600,000,000 shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited, a 1. 600,000,0000% & 7 -k BRIZERR B R AR (—

company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with limited liability,
which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr. Chow") as to 83% and
by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu”) as to 17%. Both Mr. Chow
and Mr. Yu are executive Directors. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow
is deemed to be interested in the 600,000,000 shares held by C.N.Y.
Holdings Limited. Each of Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings
Limited is regarded as a Controlling Shareholder.

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A

MREBELZHESTMAINERAR)E
BERA MKBERARARBARMKTE
(TAXE]D) RRMZRE(TREE]) DRI
B83% K17% Mz o BEAERREET R
TEE - REFEHFLBEGEL  BREWRE
YER K BB 2 I A IR & 7] ¥ A #9600,000,000
R DR A R - AiE REAEERKHA
ERBBRARSBEEATRRE -



2. Ms. Hau Pak Sui is the spouse of Mr. Chow and she is deemed to be
interested in the 600,000,000 shares, in which Mr. Chow is deemed
interested by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, and as at 31 March 2022, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the share capital of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be
required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate with the
exception of granting of share options to subscribe for shares under
the Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

For the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors and their respective associates (not
being the INEDs) are considered to have interests in the business
which compete or are likely to compete with the businesses of the
Group pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard”). Having made specific
enquiry with all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the Required Standard for the year ended 31
March 2022.
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NON-COMPETITION

Each of the Controlling Shareholders, namely C.N.Y. Holdings
Limited, Mr. Chow Mo Lam and Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Company on 25
January 2018 (the “Deed”), details of which have been set out
in the Prospectus. The Company received a declaration from the
Controlling Shareholders in writing that each of the Controlling
Shareholders had complied with the terms of the Deed, including
all undertakings given by them in favour of the Company under
the Deed, during the year ended 31 March 2022. The independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the declaration and were
satisfied that the terms of the Deed had been duly complied with
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board had not
received any written confirmation from any of the Directors and
the Controlling Shareholders in respect of interest in any business
(other than the Group) which is or is likely to be directly or
indirectly in competition with our business.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS
AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and other stakeholders
to meet its immediate and long-term goals. During the Reporting
Period, there were no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its suppliers, customers and/or other stakeholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group's five largest customers and the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers were
approximately 97% and 42% of the Group’'s sales and purchases
respectively.

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate sales attributable to the
Group's largest customer and the aggregate purchases attributable
to the Group’s largest supplier were approximately 28% and 13%
of the Group’s sales and purchases respectively.
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None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders, which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital, had a beneficial interest in any
of the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers during the
Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the shares during the period from the Listing
Date to 31 March 2022.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 117 (2021: 98) employees.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is formulated
by the Remuneration Committee based on their merit, qualifications
and competence. It is the Group’s policy to compensate each
employee fairly and equitably. The Group has a system for
measuring employees’ performance against agreed-upon goals with
specific performance standards. Performance discussion is carried
out on an ongoing basis and a formal evaluation is conducted once
a year to review employees’ overall performance, achievements,
and areas in need of improvement. Salary review will be based on
individual performance and subject to the Group’s discretion.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 20 to 46 of this annual
report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

As a subcontractor that provides facade and curtain wall
works solutions in Hong Kong, the Group is subject to certain
environmental requirements in Hong Kong. The laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group include,
among others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and Public Health and Municipal Services
Ordinance (Chapter 132 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

We require our subcontractors to be in strict legal compliance
with the applicable environmental protection laws and regulations
during the whole term of engagement. During the year ended 31
March 2022, the Group did not receive notice of any environmental
non-compliance in Hong Kong addressed either to the Group or to
our subcontractors.

Discussions on the environmental policies and performance,
compliance by the Group with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group and the account of
key relationships between the Group and our stakeholders are
contained in the ESG Report on pages 47 to 68 of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group
during the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR

The change in the information of the Director of the Company,
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the
GEM Listing Rules is set out below:

1. Mr. Wong Chi Yung, the independent non-executive Director
of the Company, has been re-designated as an executive
director, chairman and chief executive officer of BCl Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8412) on 12 July 2021.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Group the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters including the review of the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 and this
report, with the external auditor. There were no disagreements
from the auditor of the Company or the Audit Committee in
respect of the accounting policies adopted by the Company.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by the Company’'s
auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited which will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHOW MO LAM
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 22 June 2022
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Polyfair
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 87 to 167, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Revenue and profit recognition of construction
service and contract assets

Refer to Note 7 and Note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group’s carrying value of the contract assets balances as well
as the revenue and profit recognised are based on estimates of
costs to complete. These estimates are significant to our audit
because the contract assets of HK$148,580,000 as at 31 March
2022 and the construction services revenue of HK$362,094,000
for the year then ended are material to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the Group’s estimates involve application
of judgement and can be affected by a variety of uncertainties
that depend on the outcome of future events resulting in revisions
throughout the contract period.

Our audit procedures included, among others:
- Evaluating the Group’s estimation process;

- Agreeing contract sums and budgeted costs to signed
contracts and approved budgets;

- Challenging the reasonableness of key judgements and
assumptions inherent in the approved budgets;

- Assessing the reliability of the approved budgets by
comparing the actual outcome against estimates; and

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the related calculations.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B R BT R

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We consider that the Group’s estimates of the contract assets
balance as well as the revenue and profit recognised are supported
by the available evidence.

Trade receivables and contract assets

Refer to Note 20 and Note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group tested the amounts of trade receivables and contract
assets for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our
audit because the balances of trade receivables and contract assets
of HK$29,462,000 and HK$148,580,000 respectively, as at 31
March 2022 are material to the consolidated financial statements.
In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application of
judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit limits
and credit periods to customers;

- Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction history
with the customers;

- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;
= Assessing ageing of the trade receivables;
- Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
in the consolidated financial statements; and

- Testing subsequent contract work certification and settlement
of contract assets and receivables respectively after the end of
the reporting period on a sample basis.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for trade receivables
and contract assets is supported by the available evidence.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B R BT R

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's

website at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/standards/
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This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certitfied Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07374
Hong Kong, 22 June 2022

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A

and-regulations/standards/auditing-

assurance/auditre/

AR B E PN B R E 2 — 8D -

FEZESHMEXMERAR
HEEE AN

BE#&

FiEAHESE
BB R R SRP07374

FB 0 20226 H22H


http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/standards/

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

REeREkEMEEEAR

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE2022F3A318ILFE

2022 2021
20224 20214
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B o FExT FAET
Revenue U 2% 7 362,094 299,995
Cost of services PR 75 A 2R (345,617) (284,833)
Gross profit ER 16,477 15,162
Interest revenue FE A 32 110
Other income, gains and losses Elg A - Uz K EiE 8 (81) 1,915
Reversal of impairment losses/ BHEEEERNTH
(impairment losses) under expected  JF{E 5B & @~
credit loss model, net CREERE)  F5 9 459 (334)
Administrative expenses THFEX (9,558) (9,809)
Profit from operation RE SRR 7,329 7,044
Finance costs A& B 10 (3,977) (4,103)
Profit before tax BR %1 A1 % F 3,352 2,941
Income tax expenses Frisfi A 11 (695) (1,002)
Profit for the year FRER 12 2,657 1,939
Other comprehensive income/ BREAHME2E
(expense) after tax: WA (FAX) :
Item that may be reclassified to AJGEE T 7 E 1R Y
profit or loss: HH :
Exchange differences on translating & 8 9N 5 T E £ &Y
foreign operations b ERE 28 ()
Other comprehensive income/ FREMEERA (BIX)
(expense) for the year, 28
net of tax 28 (2)
Total comprehensive income FAZEBALE
for the year 2,685 1,937
Earnings per share BREF 15
Basic (HK cents) A (L) 0.33 0.24
Diluted (HK cents) e (84l) 0.33 0.24
Annual Report 2022 — == — 4% 87




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBRRE
As at 31 March 2022
R2022%3H31H

2022 2021
202245 20214
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 2 FExT FAET
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment G ] 16 315 472
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 17 1,634 3,311
Financial assets at fair value through IR AF(EF AIBZEH
profit or loss TREE 18 9,906 9,828
Deferred tax assets BT IAE = 19 775 851
Deposits e 22 4,400 3,200
17,030 17,662
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables Z 5 WA 20 29,462 29,837
Contract assets BHEE 21 148,580 120,650
Prepayments, deposits and other BRHIE - 'RE Rk
receivables H e F IR 22 18,782 3,734
Pledged bank balances BEMRITES 23 27,412 27,380
Bank balances and cash RITEGR MRS 23 12,500 10,623
236,736 192,224
Current liabilities hREBaE
Trade and other payables B 5 R H b B~ 5RIE 25 65,222 42,152
Tax payable S FIR 127 34
Bank borrowings RITIENK 26 117,720 98,039
Lease liabilities HEEE 27 1,672 1,649
184,741 141,874
Net current assets REEEFE 51,995 50,350
Total assets less current liabilities #@EERREEE 69,025 68,012
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 27 - 1,672
Net assets EEFE 69,025 66,340
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R R

As at 31 March 2022
M2022%3A318

2022 2021
20225 20214
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B o FET FHET

Capital and reserves EAXR#E
Share capital %N 28 8,000 8,000
Reserves ] 29 61,025 58,340
Total equity DB 69,025 66,340

The consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 167 were
approved and authorised for issue by Board of Directors on 22 June

2022 and are signed on behalf of by:

Chow Mo Lam
AR
Director

EF

ERRREF

Yu Lap On Stephen
RUR
Director

EZE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

o A =< ll-‘-l
mEEREHR
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE202263A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ELNTERAEL

Share Share Other Translation  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve profits Total
BE  ROEE HttRE BERE REEAN @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER THER THET THET THET
(Note)
(Fi3E)
At 1 April 2020 P202054 A1H 8,000 37,915 3,000 12 15,476 64,403
Total comprehensive (expense)/ FRZAE X))/
income for the year ONE = = = ) 1,939 1,937
At 31 March 2021 R202143A31H 8,000 37,915 3,000 10 17,415 66,340
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 818 8,000 37,915 3,000 10 17,415 66,340
Total comprehensive income FRZEKALTE
for the year - - - 28 2,657 2,685
At 31 March 2022 R2022%3A31H 8,000 37,915 3,000 38 20,072 69,025
Note: Other reserve represented the difference between the share capital Mz : EHEMEERAQABITIEAREERZE

of the Company issued as consideration of acquiring Polyfair
Construction & Engineering Limited (“Polyfair HK”) and issued share
capital of Polyfair HK pursuant to a group reorganisation completed

on 19 January 2018.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

/JILE‘\HE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE202263A31HILEE

2022 240%
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTExT FHET
Cash flows from operating activities REEHFERERE
Profit before taxation B %4 Bl A 3,352 2,941
Adjustment for: FTFIIE B ER AR
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - BERRBTE
equipment 269 497
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 1,677 1,701
Fair value (gain)/loss on payments for life /\—H% RIRE A
insurance policies NFE (W), EiE (78) 532
Finance costs BhE R A 3,977 4,103
Interest income FEWA (32) (110)
(Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment BHEEBEBREATH
losses under expected credit loss model, net CREBEER), WE
B8 ¥R (459) 334
Operating profit before working LEESEBAN
capital changes &  A 8,706 9,998
Change in trade receivables B RWFIEES) 578 (15,062)
Change in prepayments, deposits and TBNRIE - He REM
other receivables FE W R IE B B (16,246) (1,777)
Change in contract assets ’]ﬁé“@] (27.673) (5,269)
Change in trade and other payables T%&Hﬁﬁrﬁ RIEEE) 23,038 13,760
Cash (used in)/generated from operations KB (A /FBEE (11,597) 1,650
Income taxes paid EFEH (526) (54)
Net cash (used in)/generated from weEsEE (FrA) s
operating activities REFEE (12,123) 1,596
Cash flows from investing activities RETZHRBRERE
Interest received B F & 32 110
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE WERZE (110) (72)
Withdrawal of pledged bank balances B ERRITHEER - 5,040
Placement of pledged bank balances FABERIRITHER (32) (107)
Net cash (used in)/generated from REES (FTR) B
investing activities ReF8 (110) 4,971
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAET
Cash flows from financing activities RETHRERERE
Interest paid EFE (3,977) (4,103)
New bank borrowings raised FTILIRITE K 519,017 203,369
Repayment of bank borrowings BEIRITIERK (499,336) (201,598)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHNEAR (1,649) (1,753)
Net cash generated from/(used in) MEFBHRE(FTA)
financing activities ReFE 14,055 (4,085)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRESEEY
EQUIVALENTS B nFE 1,822 2,482
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes NS TE R BB B 55 42
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FINRERREEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 10,623 8,099
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRANRERAELEEY
END OF THE YEAR 12,500 10,623
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents REeRBESEEND
Bank balances and cash RITERER S 12,500 10,623

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
and registered as an exempted company with limited liability
in the Cayman Islands on 25 May 2017 and its shares are
listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“the Stock Exchange”) on 23 February 2018. Its immediate
and ultimate holding company is C.N.Y. Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI").
The registered office of the Company is located at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman lIslands. The principal place of business of
the Company is located at Unit 1206-7, 12th Floor, Fortress
Tower, 250 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) are provision of design
and project management services for facade and installation
of curtain wall systems in Hong Kong.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 April 2021. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS"); and Interpretations. The adoption of
these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant
changes to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements and amounts
reported for the current year and prior years.

e B R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE202263A31HILEE

—RER

EEERER AR (A2 1K2017
F5HSAEREREFMA T ZE
BERRER AR - BHEBKRMDR2018
FLAEANBEABERSFMBRA R
(B2 FT]) GEM ETH - HE B R&KE
RABAKBIERERAR  ZAEA
RABEZHES ((ABEZHES]) i
AT o ARAIR M= E it
A Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands © 2N 2 AIHY = 2 & 5 i
BN A AL AR EE2509% 3 A
DN12181206-7F

RRFRBREZERRT o NRT R EMH
BLor (GHEAIARE])MNERZXRKS
REB R HIMERFT R IR B E IR R A
RBBERLE

BRANFTR] R ARMER] BB B IS 3R

i =

&2 Al
RAGE  FEBRAEEGHALE
((BEBHMAR) M RALER

B2 A RS BB SRS 2
Bl ([EEMEREEL ] @ ZFEAR
2021 FARVHABW A FEER - B
B IS RS ER B IER B IS HR S A
([EFTBRELEN]) - HESFER
(BB ER]) REE - Mz EH
R RS T BB B 15 S 2 A I S 3
AEBESHER AEERAMIEHRER
HEJNARRTFEERBEFENER
CHEHEERES -

Annual Report 2022 —Z = — 4% 93



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has
already commenced an assessment of the impact of these
new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have a material
impact on its results of operations and financial position.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are
carried at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise their judgements in the process of applying
the accounting policies. The areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to these consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 4 to these consolidated
financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any
remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related
accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZ2022F3H31ALLFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE2022F3A31HLFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
Dollars (HK$), which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values
in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.
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3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZ2022F3H31ALLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSBEE)

(continued)
Foreign currency translation (continued) SR E (&)
(c) Translation on consolidation () K"ERBZRE

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated into
the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of financial
position;

(i)  Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

(iii)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on
disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values
over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
principal annual rates are as follows:

Over shorter of the lease
terms or useful lives of
5 years

Furniture and office equipment 20%

Leasehold improvements

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to
write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

— Land and buildings 1-3 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration
costs. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the
lease payments discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease term so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases
are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or less.
Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at fair
value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and

- Investments at fair value through profit or loss.
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3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

()

(ii)

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of
the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less loss allowance for
expected credit losses.

Investments at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they
do not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised
cost and the conditions of debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income unless the Group
designates an equity investment that is not held for
trading as at fair value through other comprehensive
income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss are net of any interest income and
dividend income. Interest income and dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL") on financial assets at amortised cost and
contract assets. ECL are the weighted average of credit losses
with the respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the
loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal
to the ECL that result from all possible default events over
the expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime ECL")
for trade receivables and contract assets, or if the credit risk
on that financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade receivables and contract
assets) has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime ECL
that represents the ECL that result from default events on that
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting period.

The amount of ECL or reversal to adjust the loss allowance
at the end of the reporting period to the required amount is
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to
a customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the
laws that apply to that contract, a performance obligation can
be satisfied over time or at a point in time. A performance
obligation is satisfied over time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

- the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) in Hong Kong under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group
that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused
tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group’s
various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of productions
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) (continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets except investments
and receivables to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment
loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
when material.

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE2022F3A31HLFE

4. KEY ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

Revenue and profit recognition

The Group estimated the percentage of completion
of the construction contracts by reference to the
proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date to the estimated total costs for
the contracts. When the final cost incurred by the
Group is different from the amounts that were initially
budgeted, such differences will impact the revenue and
profit or loss recognised in the period in which such
determination is made. Budget cost of each project will
be reviewed periodically and revised accordingly where
significant variances are noted during the revision.

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful
debts based on assessments of the recoverability of
the trade and other receivables and contract assets,
including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the balances may not be collectible. The identification of
bad and doubtful debts requires the use of judgement
and estimates. Where the actual result is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of the trade and other receivables and
loan receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the
year in which such estimate has been changed. If the
financial conditions of the debtors were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required.

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk
as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in the functional currencies
of the Group entities. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The Group has financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$9,906,000 (2021: HK$9,828,000)
which are denominated in US$. As HK$ is pegged to
US$, the directors of the Company consider that the
currency risk of US$ is insignificant. Accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis for US$ is presented.

The Group also has certain transactions denominated in
RMB, but the directors of the Company consider such
exposure is not significant to the consolidated financial
statements and hence no sensitivity analysis for RMB is
presented.

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BZE2022F3831HILLEFEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties failure to perform their
obligations as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of these assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

5. TRLEREE (E)

(b) FERAR

AEERARFEFH20229F3 A31
HKX&2021F3A31HREEBITHES
REFEEREMEENEERFT
EENZSEERRE
B R ARSI B ERE

WA
Ay =

(=0

AEEHAREER
EIAT 25 :

Internal Description Trade receivables/ Other financial
credit rating contract assets assets
ABEETR M E5RKRE/ HitemEE
BREE
Strong The counter-party is either listed company or Lifetime ECL - 12 months ECL
subsidiary under listed parent holding company with  not credit-impaired ("12m ECL")
strong financial background based on published
financial information publicly available in the market,
creditability and with debt balance past due within
0-1 year, and is aged within its historical settlement
pattern. The debtor has very low probability of default.
B RHUFAGR-BLITRAIRUBER -RFLTE 2HRAEEHRE- REARHEERR
RERFAGHELR  RETSARERNUBEN - LTELREEHE (MM2MEARERHEE
MBERER FERE BHERAPEE-FA- BRI
FRAGBEEERA -BHEARNTRIEEFE -
Good The counter-party is a private company with debt Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
balance past due within 0-1 year, and is aged within  not credit-impaired
its historical settlement pattern. The debtor has low
probability of default.
R RHHFR-MUALRA BHERARTE—FR 2HRPEEHE- NEARBEEER
RRTABAGERA - BHEARHARME - YELREEHE
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5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZ2022F3H31ALLFE

5. TRLEREE (@)

(b) FERE ()

Internal Description Trade receivables/ Other financial

credit rating contract assets assets

ABEEFR [ fas g5 ENHE/ HitemEE
BNEE

Satisfactory The counter-party is a either listed company or Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
subsidiary under listed parent holding company with  not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
strong financial background based on published
financial information publicly available in the market,
creditability and with debt balance past due within
1-2 years. The debtor frequently repays after due
dates and the balance often aged beyond its historical
settlement pattern. The probability of default is
moderate.

B, REGUFAFR-—MITARAERKBR—HLHE 2HAHEEERE- PHRREEHE-
RERAGHBLR - RETSARERNUBEN - TELREEHE VELREERE
MBEERER BRI BHARAH-EMFA -

EBARERIAPRRES ARRREEBRBHR
AR - BOMRIMIRA -

Watch list The counter-party is either a private company with Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
debt balance past due more than 1 year or a listed not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
company or subsidiary under listed parent holding
company with strong financial background based on
published financial information publicly available in
the market, creditability and with debt balance past
due more than 2 years. The debtor frequently repays
after due dates and the balance often aged beyond its
historical settlement pattern. The probability of default
is concern.

BIgE RHUFR-—BUARE BHERRE-—FUL 2HRAEEBRE- PHRACERA-
Ir—METRARARKERN - LTERGAAN TELREEHE VELREERE

WELAR BREMZAREROMBEN  BHERE
E - FERI EHAHANEEMET - EHALER
HMARER SRRELTBABEAEEA - BY
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

5. TREAREE (®)
(b) FERR (&)

Internal Description Trade receivables/ Other financial
credit rating contract assets assets
ABEEFR [ fia g5 EWE/ HitemEE
BNEE
Loss The counter-party has debt balance past due for more Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
than 2 years and there is evidence indicating the credit-impaired credit-impaired
debtor is credit-impaired. The probability of default is
high.
BB RHEGUFNERERREMEN L YAEBRETE 2HRHBEEEE- PHRBEERR-
BABHREEHE - BOFRMNR - BEEREERE ELREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the counter-party Amount is written off Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery.
g BEBRRXZUFRERBRENR FEETEER SESHIEH EARE ik

Y B RIREY AT B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. The Group reviews the
recoverable amount of trade receivables and contract
assets at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In addition, the Group applies the simplified
approach on trade receivables and contract assets to
provide for ECL model, which permits the use of the
lifetime impairment allowance for trade receivables
and contract assets. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has concentration
of credit risk on trade receivables amounting to
HK$7,470,000 (2021: HK$6,909,000), representing
approximately 25% of the trade receivables (2021:
23%), due from a single customer (2021: a single
customer). As at 31 March 2022, trade receivables from
the five customers with the most significant balances
amounted to HK$21,658,000 (2021: HK$23,463,000)
representing approximately 74% (2021: 79%) of the
total trade receivables.

In determining the ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets, the management of the Group has
taken into account the historical default experience and
the future prospect of the industries and/or considering
various external sources of actual and forecast economic
information, as appropriate, in estimating the probability
of default of each of the trade receivables and contract
assets occurring within their respective loss assessment
time horizon, as well as the loss upon default in each
case.

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(continued)

The table below provides information about the
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets which are assessed individually based on
internal credit rating as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March
2021 within lifetime ECL.

5. TELERRERE @)
(b) FERE (&)

EZRUNREREGHNEE
(%)

TRISFEZEBFIBERENEE
FEERRLFBHEEBEENER
T3 2022F3 A31H k202143 A
JTARAHBEHEEBERA
= B S AR 1E T E B FE A -

Gross carrying amount Impairment losses
REAE REFE
Average Trade  Contract Trade  Contract
Internal credit rating loss rate receivables assets Total receivables assets Total
T4  EIER EAEK

REBEEFR FRX RE  ANEE At RE  ANEE -y
%  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TER TAT TAT TAR TAT

As at 31 March 2022 12022434318
Strong %) 0.09 23,392 106,516 129,908 15 105 120
Good R 133 5,526 33,510 39,036 73 445 518
Satisfactory e 1.43 - 980 980 - 14 14
Watch list BiRE 8.00 706 8,827 9,533 74 689 763
Loss ER 100.00 2,647 - 2,647 2,647 - 2,647
32271 149,833 182,104 2,809 1,253 4,062

As at 31 March 2021 R202143A318
Strong G 0.39 16,977 67,863 84,840 56 275 331
Good RiF 2.02 12,519 45,747 58,266 253 925 1,178
Satisfactory WE 1.18 - 2,975 2,975 - 35 35
Watch list BrhE 5.27 706 5,575 6,281 56 275 331
Loss ER 100.00 2,647 - 2,647 2,647 - 2,647
32,849 122,160 155,009 3,012 1,510 4,522
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4R E B 7% R R Bt EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. £BiEKEE (&)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERMK (&)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(continued)

The ECL on trade receivables and contract assets are
estimated individually by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
of the industry in which the debtors operate and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date.

A trade receivable and contract asset is written off
when there is information indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over two
years past due, whichever occurs earlier. None of the
trade receivables that have been written off is subject to
enforcement activities.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions made during the year in
assessing the loss allowances for the trade receivables
and contract assets. The individual assessment is
regularly reviewed by management of the Group to
ensure relevant information about the specific debtor is
updated.

ESRURERENEE
(%)

EORURBERAHNEENTAS
FEBERN2EEBABEED
BB MEBAZRHBARD T
ZAERI EAEITER - WHEHA
MR ERR - EHAREERAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. 2 REAMRETIE (&)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERMK (&)
Trade receivables and contract assets EZEUREREGHNEE
(continued) (&)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TR RBEERE S RUK
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the HEBRNWEHEHEESES
simplified approach: £
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
ZHENEEFE 2HRHNGEFE
(CEHEREERE) (EHBREERE) @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHET FHET
At 1 April 2020 R2020F4A1H 210 2,647 2,857
Reversal of impairment losses & ELREEE (141) = (141)
Impairment losses recognised B HERREEE 296 = 296
At 31 March 2021 and ®202143A31H
1 April 2021 %2021%4 818 365 2,647 3,012
Reversal of impairment losses BB {EEE (297) = (297)
Impairment losses recognised B HERRERE 94 - 94
At 31 March 2022 M2022%3H31H 162 2,647 2,809
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. £BiEKEE (&)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERMK (&)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL

ESRURERENEE
(&)

TREFIRIERE XL E B FF SR

BHEE(LELBREFEERE) D
ERN=HEREEERED

that has been recognised for contract assets (not credit
impaired) individually assessed under the simplified

approach:

Lifetime ECL (not

credit-impaired)

HEHEERE

(Y EHBEERME)

HK$'000

FHETT

At 1 April 2020 R2020F4 818 1,322
Reversal of impairment losses B R EEE (344)
Impairment losses recognised EHERREERE 532
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 M2021F3A318 &2021F4 711 1,510
Reversal of impairment losses B EE1E (798)
Impairment losses recognised ERERREERE 541
At 31 March 2022 202243 A31H 1,253

The major customers of the Group are certain reputable
organisations. The management of the Group considers
that the credit risk is limited in this regard.

Pledged bank deposits/bank balances

For the pledged bank deposits and bank balances, no
impairment allowance was made since the directors
of the Company consider the probability of default
is negligible as such amounts are receivable from or
placed in banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

AEBWIBEPAETHRE
o AEEERERRIMILMFE
ERBRAER -

BERRITERRITER

e ERRITERRBITERMD
5 HRABFETIERE HFNR
REBBREETERBRTSE
B RMERTT MARRERERR
BAMTATREEMT RS - Bt &
AR E R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. 2 REAMRETIE (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERMK (&)

Deposits

For deposits, no impairment allowance was made since
the directors of the Company consider the probability
of default is minimal after assessing the counterparties’
financial background and creditability.

Other receivables

In respect of other receivables, the 12m ECL is assessed
individually as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021
and the impairment allowance was provided by the
Group based on historical credit loss experience with
these counterparties.

As at 31 March 2022, 12m ECL of which HK$3,000
(2021: HK$2,000) is recognised for not credit-impaired
other receivables with an aggregate gross carrying
amount of HK$130,000 (2021: HK$141,000).

The following table shows the movement in 12m ECL
that has been recognised for other receivables:

B

HREEMs  ARAERLHNER
FHFORBEERREEENRR
R A LSRR - FE I 5+
R ER R -

H fth P& WK KR

H e sRIE 202243 8318 &
2021F3A318@RIER 128 A&
HEEEFESG  MASEDRE
ZERSHFRBAEE B
TR E A o

M2022%43A31H EME@E
%4 $£5130,00058 7T (20214 :
141,000/ 70 ) By E Ath FE U R IA (B
F13,0005 7T (20214 : 2,000/
JC) W £ IR {5 BB E) R 121
ATEHEEEIE -

TR E YR D R
1A EMEEERE

12m ECL

(not credit-impaired)

1RBERBRHEESE

(W HBREERE)

HK$'000

FHTT

At 1 April 2020 R2020%F4 A1 H 11

Reversal of impairment loss recognised BB B RERREBE (9)

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 72021463 H318 2
%2021F4R818

Impairment loss recognised EERBEBE 1

At 31 March 2022 202293 H31H 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. £@iEKRERE (&)

(c) Liquidity risk (c) RBELRAR
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current AEENBREATHERBER
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it BERBESFR  UBRERAEE
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity HETHANRSFEHEAENER
requirements in the short and longer term. HORBESF K -
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flow, rEESRAEGEERATRES
of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows: MENEBHASTAT
Repayable on Between
demand or less 1and 2
than 1 year years Total
RERS
1FREER 1-2%F ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FTHET FTERT
At 31 March 2022 1202263 H31H
Trade and other payables B 5 K E th {5018 54,634 3,387 58,021
Bank borrowings RITHERK 121,065 - 121,065
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,700 - 1,700
177,399 3,387 180,786
Repayable on Between
demand or less 1and 2
than 1 year years Total
BESRE
15 AEE 1-24F HRET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FHET
At 31 March 2021 7"2021%3H31H
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk H A FER IR 32,839 3,535 36,374
Bank borrowings HRITIE X 100,730 - 100,730
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,743 1,700 3,443
135,312 5,235 140,547
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

= Bl B B ()
(d) RI=mE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.

(d) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from
its pledged bank balances, bank balances and cash and
bank borrowings. These deposits and borrowings bear
interests at variable rates varied with the then prevailing
market condition.

The Group’s fixed-rate pledged bank deposits bear
interest at fixed interest rates and therefore are subject
to fair value interest rate risks.

At 31 March 2022, except for bank balances using 50
basis points (2021: 50 basis points), if interest rates
at that date had been 100 basis points lower with all
other variables held constant, consolidated profit after
tax for the year would have been HK$931,000 (2021:
HK$779,000) higher, arising mainly as a result of
lower interest expense on bank and other borrowings.
Except for bank balances using 50 basis points (2021:
50 basis points), if interest rates had been 100 basis
points higher, with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit after tax for the year would have
been HK$931,000 (2021: HK$779,000) lower, arising
mainly as a result of higher interest expense on bank
and other borrowings.

124 rolyfair Holdings Limited 242 ik 5 R 2 &)

AEBEHE RN XERKE S EHIT
RITERR - RITEBRARIRESRIR
TER - ZEFARERRETE
By T 000 T XE BV ¥ BRI R ET B o

AEEHE)
FEFIE &

B/ 48R
rE°

S 2 EMRITERIZE
U DR R R

M20225F3A31H - BEAS0EE
25 (20214F : SOMEE2h) HRTTAS
RO - fiWsz B BB A9 F R IR 1004
BMATEEMESHFTE  AF
FE4R A BR R 1805 1) 4538 1193 1,000
BT (20214 : 779,000/ 7T) © &
FERRAARITREMEENF S
7 SR D BT B o BR {55 FASOE & 2
(20214 : SOME X Bh) AR 1T 4 £
G (EFIR EFH100E B Fr e &
hEEEFTE  AFEEEBRTE
1% 3% A #5388 42931,0005% 7T (2021
F:779,00087L)  EFXEEAAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. £@iEKRERE (&)

(e) Categories of financial instruments (e) M T EREEA
2022 20022
2022 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FH&T
Financial assets: ETRMEE -
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEKNATTENEREE
(including cash and cash (BREREEMRESEEY)
equivalents) 74,441 71,717
Financial assets at fair value BEATER ABEN
through profit or loss BRIEE 9,906 9,828
84,347 81,545
Financial liabilities: tRMEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 1R KAt EN SR B & 175,741 134,413
(f) Fair value ) 2¥E&E
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets iR e BRSO 2R P I B ) AN &R B
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated CREENCREBENRAER
statement of financial position approximate their EXBRAFERS -

respective fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs to

valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Group can access at the

measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers
out of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or

change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

(i) Disclosures of level in fair value

AFEIE
REETETSESEE 2 BEFERE
THEFR ST HE —BAEMKRMY
BEREE - BREMMHERS - A
TAFEAERBERANAFEER -
et EAFEMAGHEXTEABES
R=EE R

FE—R WABE  AEERFER
AESHHEREESAR
IR BT 5 RE CREHR

) .

BB BANE E-BFBAR
BT EERBEBRRNE
B AR AR -

BB BANE AEREEQT

ABRE AR -
AEENBRITNEHERNEHAIB
NEBE RAERTM =R RNEANL
B

(i) XFEBREE

hierarchy
Fair value measurements using: ANEEFERA :
Level 3
E=
HK$°000
FHAT
At 31 March 2022 7"2022563H31H
Recurring fair value measurements: KEERATEFE :
Payments for life insurance policies ASRBREBENK 9,906
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6. DAFEFTE (&)
(i) Disclosures of level in fair value (i) 2FEERKE (E)
hierarchy (continued)
Fair value measurements using: AEEFERA -
Level 3
E=
HK$'000
FHT
At 31 March 2021 R202143A31H
Recurring fair value measurements: REEAFERE :
Payments for life insurance policies ASRBRBEMAR 9,828
(ii) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair (i) REE=HRAFEFTE
value based on level 3: MWEEHRK

Payments for life
insurance policies

ABRBRREMK

HK$'000
FHTT
Description weE

At 1 April 2020 720204 A1H 10,360
Total loss recognised in profit or loss (#) RIERERH B EE#H) (532)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 2021434318 k202154710 9,828
Total gain recognised in profit or loss (#) R {E# R A& U w= (#) 78
At 31 March 2022 202243 A31H 9,906
2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHTT

(#) Include gain or (loss) for assets HERERREERFTAED
held at end of reporting period BER W (EE) 78 (532)
The total gain or loss recognised in profit or loss RERERHRWIHEE (21
including those for assets held at end of reporting RBEARZANE ERUWZ L
period are presented in other income, gain and (losses) BE)RNEaRRNEMKA - ks

in the statement of profit or loss. R(BE)EBETZ3 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(iii) Disclosure of valuation process used by

the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for the
fair value measurements of assets and liabilities required
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair
value measurements. The financial controller reports
directly to the Board of Directors for these fair value
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the financial controller and the
Board of Directors at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience to perform the valuations.

Key unobservable inputs used in fair value
measurements are as follow:

AFEE ()

(i) WEAXAEBERALERF
ERaFPEFSTEMAMGER
17 K o A 8BS

AEEMBEER AR BERE
FHNEERABENATERE B
BE=MAVENE - UHREE
EMEFSERZSAVEFE -
MBRERETREFEDMAG
EERFRERETHW -

WE=MAVEFEMS - ARE
BERBABYRABXER LN
MBS B AEEZOETIAE -

NP EAEMBBARIIREHA
BEmT

Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value Fair value

Description techniques inputs Range for increase of inputs 2022

BASEEM AVE

i fhERH TEERAHE #8 HAVENYE 2022F

HK$'000

TR

Financial assets at fair value through  Discounted Mortality rates 0.69% - 100% Increase 9,906

profit or loss - Payments for life cash flow RTE B

insurance policies FRRESR Discount rates 0.64% -2.29%  Decrease

BATEFARENEREE HIEES
- ABRBREMK
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6.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(iii) Disclosure of valuation process used by
the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

6. F{EETE (M)

(i) WEAXAEEFRAGERRF
RAFESERAGER
k@ ABE (&)

(continued)
Effect on fair value for Fair value
Description Unobservable inputs Range increase of inputs 2021
BAZBEM NHE
i TBRGAE 5E HATENYE 20215
HK$'000
T
Financial assets at fair value through Mortality rates 0.65% -100% Increase 9,828
profit or loss - Payments for life A S
insurance policies Discount rates 0.47% -2.28%  Decrease

- \SRBRRENK

During the two years, there were no changes in the

valuation techniques used.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received and
receivable from provision of construction services. An analysis

of the Group’s revenue is as follow:

o

REEFERA - BB {ERMTLE
E2)

#eh
=

7. WmKkoEWER

WaERHEEEREME K RER SRR
MAFE - ARBHKESTNOT

Construction services for residential

properties

Construction services for commercial

properties

Revenue from contracts with customers

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHxT FHTT
FEEMENEZERES
157,197 210,257
LI E M E R RERTS
204,897 89,738
KREBEFE LMK 362,094 299,995
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment information

For the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment, the chief operating decision maker (i.e. the
chief executive of the Group) reviews the overall results and
financial position of the Group, which are prepared based on
the same accounting policies set out in note 3. Accordingly,
the Group presents only one single operating segment and no
further analysis is presented.

Geographical information

No geographical information is presented as the Group's
revenue are all derived from Hong Kong based on the
location of services delivered and the Group’s non-current
assets (excluding financial assets and deferred tax assets) are
substantially located in Hong Kong.

Timing of revenue recognition

All timing of revenue recognition is over time for the year
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

7.

W 5 K 2 &R & ¥ (4)

72 HE R
RERDELKRENGEME  TELE
REE (AIARBERSTHRAR) BN
SERBXE RPN - ETIRIEM
AE3ESIMER ST BORAER - Bt - K
SEEZI-—BAE-—NKEDH A E
2IE—F D -

i & & R

R RERG O R - AEBE Y
RKEEE MAEBENERHEE (R
BESREEREEREEE) ABH
RIREE - Bk I & 25 [R5k o

W 2 72 52 B

HE2022F K2021F3A31HIEFE -
Fra WS EREEY A —ERER -

Information about major customers ERETEEFHNER
Revenue attributed from customers that accounted for 10% RERN (RSB BRUER10%K A £ K
or more of the Group's total revenue during the year is as B ZEEWENT
follows:
2022 2021
2022% 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHIT
Customer A EFA 101,562 6,232*
Customer B =FB 2,253* 147,777
Customer C =EC 94,156 33,828
Customer D EPD 92,738 43,258
Customer E EPE 47,980 2,803*
@ The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the e HE B O Uk 25 37 48 5 7K 5 B 48 Uk 25 B R

total revenue of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment information (continued)

Construction service fee income

The Group provides design and project management services
for facade and installation of curtain wall systems to the
customers. When the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligations of a construction contract
can be measured reasonably, revenue from the contract and
the contract costs are recognised using the percentage of
completion method, measured by reference to the percentage
of contract costs incurred to date to the estimated total
contract costs for the contract. This method provides the most
reliable estimate of the percentage of completion.

When the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligations of a construction contract cannot be
measured reasonably, revenue is recognised only to the extent
of contract costs incurred that is expected to be recoverable.

The customers pay the contract prices to the Group according
to the payment schedules as stipulated in the contracts. If
the service rendered by the Group exceeds the payments,
a contract asset is recognised. If the payments exceed the
service rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

The contract price is allocated to the performance obligations
based on the relative stand-alone selling prices of the
performance obligations. The stand-alone selling prices are
determined by applying the expected cost plus a margin
approach.

7.

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

i 55 K 2 %8 & # (4)

2 EE R (F)
BERBERA

AEBRTPIRHIMER REB BEE
MBEARBRBESKLE - EX2BITE
ERENBENEETNEE S EFTER
?KFHTEIE J:I:ﬁﬁ%; IZ\\,‘]L&M I:lm/g
KA Y EEFERSZELESELNS
WA IEE NGB E RN EER D
Lo Wb ERME T T A D LKA 5
&t o

EXERTREANBHRENERE
AR ER  EERHAKEEEL
BRRANERT T SRS -

EFREAOFTHANMNREREEAAE
iﬁé%@{ﬁﬁ e 75 5% 81 P 2 AHE O AR
BEBOHNAR SERRBANEE - Wit
%&Zﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ\ﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁ% AlemRala

BHEBRBOEENHEBBIEES
REBYOEE - BUESBIHEAEHK
AIF BT EERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBE®RME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HA -haEaRkEE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Exchange loss P& 5 E51a (202) (428)
Fair value gain/(loss) on payments AERBRENHATEE
for life insurance policies W (E18) 78 (532)
Government subsidy B8 - 2,750
Sundry income EAET N 43 125
(81) 1,915
9. REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT 9. HHIGESEEX NRERS
LOSSES/(IMPAIRMENT LOSSES) UNDER BEEORESR) B
EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment & 5 & U X B R E &8
losses) on trade receivables, net Bl OREEE)  F5E 203 (155)
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment & #1& EE R (B & 18 # @~
losses) on contract assets, net CREEE)  F38 257 (188)
(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment H b fEU K IA
losses on other receivables, net CREEE) REERE
B - JFEE (1) 9
459 (334)
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 5(b). BRARBEF EFBEHLHESD)
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10. FINANCE COSTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4R E B 7% R R Bt EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

10. A& KA

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Interest on bank borrowings and RITE R RRITELZFE
bank overdrafts 3,883 4,060
Interest on lease liabilities HESEFE 94 43
3,977 4,103

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

11. FIS8HEX

2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BNEAR T — B NS

— Provision for the year —FREBE 620 90
— Under-provision in prior years —BEFERBTE - 1,019
620 1,109

Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax: BIEAF{IE — R B EATSH ¢
— Over-provision in prior years —BEFEHEERE (1 (12)
Deferred taxation (note 19) EERTE (MIaE19) 76 (95)
695 1,002

Annual Report 2022 —Z=—=&% 133



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE2022F3A31HLFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 11. FTEHBEX (&)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 REMAHFEHE  SEKEEE
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed RE2EEATRAMNNAINERRER
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 8.25% ' MiB2E BB T M m f Al iz
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the 16.5% i - T E MR NEHXE
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at BOEEE BRGNS EEIRI6.5%H
a flat rate of 16.5%. B — T =B o

Hong Kong Profit Tax has been provided at the rate of 8.25% B ZE2022F K2021F3A31H ILFE -
on assessable profits up to HK$2 million and 16.5% on any BEBMNESH BT HBE2E BB T E
part of assessable profit over HK$2 million for the years A EIETIR8.25% 51 H - MiBiE2H
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. &5 TT Y E{a] 3B 0 FE AR B 4 1 Bl de i 3R

16.5%+t &

According to the Enterprise Income Tax Law (FFEEA R RRPEAREMBDSEMSHRERR
BI¥F115F)%) and the Implementation of the Enterprise 2= ARKEMBE D EREEEE IR -
Income Tax Law of the PRC (FZEARLTE®EFHIE FENDABMANEEERNERAZESE
E M), an entity eligible as a Small Low-profit Enterprise FREFB - 520191 81H £2020%F12
(NELRF D EE) is subject to preferential tax treatments. A318 - PEHFI 2 FEERBK
From 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2020, the annual AR T A A RE 1,000,000 83590 78
taxable income not more than RMB1,000,000 of a Small THEERTUAR25% 12T E20% T &
Low-profit Enterprise is subject to Enterprise Income Tax REMSEH - MEEERTWARINF
calculated at 25% of its taxable income at a tax rate of 20% AR #1,000,0007T = A K #3,000,000
and the annual taxable income between RMB1,000,000 and T HY B8 19D 78 B B B AR B UK A B950% 3%
RMB3,000,000 is calculated at 50% of its taxable income at a FE20%TE R EBF - 7202141
tax rate of 20%. From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021, A1B E2021F12A318 « /NS FI 1
the annual taxable income not more than RMB1,000,000 X2FERRBBRARTEBBAARE
of a Small Low-profit Enterprise is subject to Enterprise 1,000,0007T #Y #B 17 78 Bt H FE SR B AHY
Income Tax calculated at 12.5% of its taxable income at a 12.5% L E20% st EREMET -
tax rate of 20% and the annual taxable income between FEREARWAF N F AKE 1,000,000
RMB1,000,000 and RMB3,000,000 is calculated at 50% of JLEAR3,000,0007T #IEP 10 B 5L E FE
its taxable income at a tax rate of 20%. From 1 January 2022 PRI A BI50 % 1Z T R 20% 5T 5 1 % P
to 31 December 2024, the annual taxable income not more B o 1R2022F1 18 =2024F 128
than RMB1,000,000 of a Small Low-profit Enterprise is subject 318 « NEHF B 2 FEERTUA
to Enterprise Income Tax calculated at 12.5% of its taxable AR AR % 1,000,000 T BB 5 7B BE
income at a tax rate of 20% and the annual taxable income HEZRHUBA12.5%EF R20%+&
between RMB1,000,000 and RMB3,000,000 is calculated at ERAFH  MFRERRTBLARNF
25% of its taxable income at a tax rate of 20%. A R #1,000,0007T & A K #3,000,000

TCH) BB 10 78 B L FE AR MR A B925 % 3R Bt
K20%HELEMBEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

During both years, a subsidiary of the Group is eligible as
a Small Low-profit Enterprise and is subject to the relevant
preferential tax treatments. No provision for Enterprise Income
Tax for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 has been
made as the subsidiary did not generate any assessable profits
during both years.

11.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

FR&®F X ()

PRREFE  rEE-—HEEBRARFE
NIHFCEERT Z B HBERRT
BoRRZWNEBRRREZE2022F &
2021F3A318 L FEWEEETEMRE
ABUEA - B ZMEFERIRE
ESIECY T

FAMBHAX AR BRaEMEE
W AR B9 BR B B M SRR AT

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T
Profit before taxation BR Bt A A A 3,352 2,941
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax REBNGHTE16.5%
rate at 16.5% TERFIE 553 485
Tax effect of expenses not deductible DAL B S R TS s &
for tax purpose 418 460
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARTBRANT B E
tax purpose (94) (455)
Tax effect of estimated tax losses RIER T IBBED
not recognised M E 4 11
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses B A S AT AR SR A9 T IR
not previously recognised BENTEZE - (458)
(Over)/under-provision in prior years BEFE (BEEE)
BETRE (1) 1,007
Effect of different tax rates of WEBAB TR RN E
subsidiaries (10) 51
Effect of two-tiered profits tax MARFIE R R EN R E
rates regime (165) (100)
Others HAith (10) 1
Income tax expenses FriSfi B & 695 1,002
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12. FREF
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&xT FH& T
The Group's profit for the year is REBOFE AR TR
stated after charging the following: HBRATRIEERZT -
Directors’ remuneration (note 13) BEHM (FIFE13) 6,526 5,824
Other staff costs: B TR
Salaries and other benefits HENHEMET 40,538 34,144
Retirement benefit schemes contributions  RIRIEFIFHEIHE X 2,847 1,494
Total staff costs* 8 TR AR 4a%E* 49,911 41,462
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B AT Bl 585 585
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERERETE
equipment 269 497
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 1,677 1,701
* The staff costs were expensed in direct costs and * BIRAREEKRARITBERAX

administrative expenses amounting to HK$44,188,000 (2021:
HK$36,795,000) and HK$5,723,000 (2021: HK$4,667,000)
respectively.

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A

R %D 5l A244,188,0000
7t (20214 : 36,795,000/ 7T) &
5,723,000/ 7T (20214 : 4,667,000
JT) °
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xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 13.EE " BRETHRAEBRES
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS B
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EZRESTHRAEME
emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to directors and chief ENSERAAREZERTEST
executive of the Company are as follows: BABHMESHT
Performance
and Retirement
Salariesand discretionary scheme
Fee other benefits bonus  contributions Total
e HERHMEA BYRMERAL  BAGEER @t
(note i) (note i) (note iii)
(irti) (i) (B ki)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER Thn THET
Executive directors BTE=S
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen RUREE
("Mr. Yu") (IREED) - 2,127 593 18 2,738
Mr. Chow Mo Lam ARMEE
("Mr. Chow") (TA%AED) - 1,592 131 - 1,723
Mr. Wong Kam Man BREE - 1,265 134 18 147
Independent non-executive ~ BUFEHTEES
directors
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah EEEET 216 - - - 216
Mr. Wong Chi Yung FERELE 216 - - - 216
Mr. Man Yun Yee NBR S 216 - - - 216
Total for 2022 20202545t 648 4,984 858 36 6,526
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND

13. E5  RETHRAEBRESMH
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) € (&)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EERESTTHRAEMS
emoluments (continued) (#&)
Performance
and Retirement
Salaries and  discretionary scheme
Fee other benefits bonus  contributions Total
HFek Bk RIS
ik Hftiah BEIEAL (a5 et
(note i) (note i) (note iii)
GED) (B (B &)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL FHET THT FHET THT
Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Yu REE - 2,037 168 18 2,223
Mr. Chow A% HE = 1,527 126 = 1,653
Mr. Wong Kam Man BB EE - 1,212 100 18 1,330
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
directors
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah EEERT 206 - - - 206
Mr. Wong Chi Yung FEBELE 206 - - - 206
Mr. Man Yun Yee XHETEE 206 = = = 206
Total for 2021 2021F @5t 618 4,776 394 36 5,824
Notes: B 5

(i) The emoluments of independent non-executive directors

shown were for their services as directors of the

Company.

(i) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were

for their services in connection with the management

of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The

emoluments of Mr. Yu were also for his services in
capacity of chief executive officer.

the

(iii)  The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to

the operating results, individual performance and market

condition during the year.

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A

(i) FIRBMYIEHITESNMES A
BREEERRAEEMEHNR
B e -

(i) EXFRAITEFTNME SR
EEERARARAEBEEBAIR
HERB M S OME - REE
BN 2 TR R R R BRI T I AR S PR
R A0 AR5 T S A OB &

(i) BMIBLADSEFANKEEE
B EAARBRRTREE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 13. EX - BETHAEBRESH

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) € (&)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EERESTHRAEME
emoluments (continued) (&)
During both years, no emolument was paid or payable RREFE  NEEBERAR A
by the Group to any directors of the Company as an FRESZTRENERMMES -
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as AR AR 5 B ) 52 )
compensation for loss of office. There is no arrangement HEEAE MEESEHEXRE
under which a director has waived or agreed to waive MEEMWE B ZHE -

any remuneration.

(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEBE

The five highest paid individuals include three (2021: hEmmEH ALTHR =% (2021
three) directors whose emoluments are presented in F:=ZH)BRES EMSERE
the disclosures in (a) above. The emoluments of the X(a)NHEE o s T (20214 ¢

remaining two (2021: two) individuals are as follows: ME) ATHBET -
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT F&TT
Salaries and other benefits e kEMmET 1,834 1,850
Performance and discretionary bonus 34 R EIIEIEAL 192 153

Retirement benefit schemes BREAET B K

contributions 20 36
2,046 2,039
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (continued)

Their emoluments are within the following bands:

13. EE - RE1THAEREEM
€ (&)

(b) EEME (&)
REFMBEMT -

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

Number of Number of

employees employees

EEAR EE AR

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z%1,000,000%8 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001#7C% 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1
2 2

During both years, no emolument was paid by the
Group to the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

14. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed by the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A

RREFE  AEBERERR SR
SEHALTZMERBME - ERIA
P IR S (5 B ) 22 D =X B B A

f& -

14. KB

HZE2022F3A318 IEFE » A2 Al
R B R sk #R A B S (2021
F:F) o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4R E B 7% R R Bt EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BREF
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is BRERREERN DR AN EIER
based on the following: =
Earnings 2
2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$000 HK$’000
FTERT FAT
Earnings for the purpose of calculating  BLET &S IREAR R #E
basic and diluted earnings per share BAT = B &R 2,657 1,939
Number of shares igvig 4=
2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
‘000 ‘000
TR F &
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FiatE &R EA K #E
shares for the purpose of calculating BT = B E @Ak
basic and diluted earnings per share hniEFEI9 2 800,000 800,000
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e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. W% - BERRKRE

Furniture
Leasehold and office
improvements equipment Total
HE#E HARBAIRE mct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET THET
COST 5%
At 1 April 2020 202054 A1H 828 1,332 2,160
Additions =T - 72 72
Exchange differences b X =5 = 21 21
At 31 March 2021 and R202143A31B Kk
1 April 2021 20214418 828 1,425 2,253
Additions NE - 110 110
Exchange differences b E R -~ 10 10
At 31 March 2022 P202293A31H 828 1,545 2,373
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  RFE
At 1 April 2020 20204 A1H 604 666 1,270
Charge for the year FEXH 224 273 497
Exchange differences bE W =5 - 14 14
At 31 March 2021 and M2021463A31H K
1 April 2021 202154 H18 828 953 1,781
Charge for the year FEXM - 269 269
Exchange differences b N =5 - 8 8
At 31 March 2022 202263A31H 828 1,230 2,058
CARRYING AMOUNT BREE
At 31 March 2022 M2022%3H31H - 315 315
At 31 March 2021 2021434318 - 472 472
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Disclosure of lease-related items:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

17. ERAREEE
MEMBEABE -

2022 2021
2022F 20214F
HK$000 HK$’000
FTHERT FAT
At 31 March: M3A318 :
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
— Land and buildings — i REF 1,634 3,311
The maturity analysis, based on AEBHEEEBERE
undiscounted cash flows, of the ATBRREMIEL A
Group's lease liabilities is as follows: FER SO -
— Less than 1 year —1FRN 1,700 1,743
— Between 1 and 2 years = (| ZZ24E - 1,700
1,700 3,443
Year ended 31 March: HE3A3THLFE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE
— Land and buildings — i RIEF 1,677 1,701
Lease interests HE R 94 43
Expenses related to short-term leases S HATH E AR R R 2 471 407
Total cash outflow for leases HERE ML B
(including short-term leases) (BFEEHRE) 2,214 2,203
Additions to right-of-use assets RNEEREEE - 3,646
The Group leases various land and buildings. Lease AEEHRAZELHRET - HEWZ
agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 3 BERIZ3FE T HREEIZ - HE K
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and PR AR EERER - WHEHBEEZ
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The BRI GRF R AGHE - HEHE I i
lease agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased MEMRE  MEEEETSAERR
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. HIE G o
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e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 18. BAFEFTAEBEENEREE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Financial assets at fair value through BATETABREN
profit or loss TREE
- Payments for life insurance policies — ANSRBREMNRK 9,906 9,828

The amount represents two life insurance policies entered
into by Polyfair HK in September 2017 (the “Policies”) for
two directors of the Company, namely Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu,
which changes in fair value are recognised through profit or
loss.

Under the Policies, the beneficiary and policy holder is
Polyfair HK and the total insured sum is US$1,000,000.
Polyfair HK paid an upfront payment of US$623,822
(equivalent to HK$4,881,000) and US$471,857 (equivalent to
HK$3,692,000). Polyfair HK can terminate the policies at any
time and receive cash back based on the net nominal account
value of the Policies at the date of withdrawal, which is the
gross premium paid, plus accumulated interest income less
any deductions and the applicable surrender charges made in
accordance with the Policies. Polyfair HK receives an interest
income at variable rates, at which the insurer guaranteed a
minimum interest rates of 3.9% per annum for the 1st to
the 5th policy year and 2.25% per annum for the rest of
the policy years. Surrender charge is payable if the Policies
are terminated by Polyfair HK between the 1st and the 15th
policy year in accordance with the Policies. The management
expected that the Policies will be held upon the expected lives
of the two directors insured for a period of 20 years.

The fair values of the Company’s life insurance policies at
31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021 have been arrived at
on the basis of a valuation carried out on those dates by
Valtech Valuation Advisory Limited, an independent firm of
professional valuer not related to the Group whose address
is Unit 2106, 21/F, Futura Plaza, 111-113 How Ming Street,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. Details of the valuation
are set out in note 6.
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BB #I5{RE51,000,000% 7T ° B3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZ2022F3H31ALLFE

19. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 19. BEBIHEE
The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised by AEEERNEZRCHRIBEENT ©
the Group.

Impairment Accelerated
allowance depreciation

for ECL allowance Total
EHEE
B8 RRE
BiE NERERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET FHIT
At 1 April 2020 7K2020F4H1H 692 64 756
Credit to profit or loss (note 11) st Az (FF7E11) 55 40 95
At 31 March 2021 and 2021634318 &

1 April 2021 2021%F481H 747 104 851
Debit to profit or loss (note 11) RiEEHBR (BFFE11) (76) - (76)
At 31 March 2022 M202243H31H 671 104 775

The Group has unused tax losses of HK$210,000 (2021: REBE G RE A IEEE210,000/ 7T
HK$63,000) available for offsetting against future taxable (20214 : 63,000/87C) Al AR SHE &
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. No EHEEEN AR RKERTEF] o B
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the REETERL R 3% R AR - I E Lok
unused tax losses due to unpredictability of future profit FRARIEEEEREERIBEE - 1B
streams. The tax loss of HK$210,000 will expire in 2024 to [E518210,0007% 7T 1 72024 4F £2026%F
2026. EVER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

20. E 5 BRI

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Trade receivables g 5 WA 32,271 32,849
Less: allowance for bad and doubtful debts  J&l : RIZEREME (2,809) (3,012)
29,462 29,837
The Group allows a credit period of 14 to 30 days to its $$lﬁﬁ?ﬁl$ﬂ%%ﬁ fél?yti_ £T72
customers for construction works after the work is certified, HTERF14230H8E  EET
except for several credit worthy customers to whom an —;Eﬁ?ﬁ’\]%}gﬁﬁﬁﬁ1 Hﬁﬁ?ﬂ‘ °
extended credit period would be granted. An ageing analysis RIFERRE ZE M KRIERIEZEZHH
of the trade receivables, presented based on the invoice date EEMERE DT T ¢
at the end of the reporting period, is as follows:
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FAT
0 — 30 days 0%30H 9,719 16,534
31 - 90 days 31290H 19,030 12,652
Over 90 days 90H M 713 651
29,462 29,837
Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the REXEMFEP 28 NEESM

potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed

regularly.

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

21.

As at 31 March 2022, the management of the Group
closely monitors the credit quality of trade receivables and
the balance of past due 90 days or more of HK$713,000
(2021: HK$651,000) is not considered as in default based on
historical settlement pattern for those debtors and continued
business with the Group.

20. ESZ EWE

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

R IE (48)

MR2022%3A318 ' AEBEBEEEZ
ERZIRWFIENEELR - BER
FHEBEHEANBTEREAREARE
B R EXESEE - mE90A kLA L/
45 $4713,0007%8 7T (20214 : 651,000/%
T T WEBEER -

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set EHE ZREBGIAREN EOFBEEHRR
out in note 5(b). B EE5(b)
CONTRACT ASSETS 21. BHEE
Disclosures of revenue-related items: WEEWEEEIEE -
As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 1 April
2022 2021 2020
20225 20214 20204
3HA31H 3H31H 4H1H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT FAT
Contract assets — construction BREE —BE 148,580 120,650 115,569
Contract receivables B KM GRIE
(included in trade receivables) (GtAE ZREYFIR) 29,462 29,837 14,930
Based on the information available to the Group at the end of BERSHRERRTEBRESHER -
each reporting period, the management of the Group expects AEBEEREEAN2022F3H4318 S
the transaction price allocated to the above unsatisfied (or Bl Fai KRBT (o RETT) IR

partially unsatisfied) contracts in respect of provision of
construction services as at 31 March 2022 will be recognised
as revenue during the year ending 31 March 2023 to 2025
(2021: the year ended 31 March 2022 to 2024).

ERBFEEONR ZHEREBNEE2023F
£2025F3A318 L FE (20215 : &
E2022F F2024F3A31H IEFE) #E
RAWES -
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

21. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued) 21. EHEE (#)
Significant changes in contract assets during the year: FREHNEENENZE)

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHxT T
Increase due to operations in the year R R A% & T 3 0 97,878 56,336

Increase due to reversal of impairment of E# Bl & #0& 2R E Mg AN
contract assets 798 344

Decrease due to impairment of E& 7 & =R E

contract assets (541) (532)
Transfer of contract assets to receivables BN EEEREEWFE (70,205) (51,067)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for products or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer.

Retention receivables relating to contracts in progress of
HK$39,942,000 (2021: HK$34,651,000) are included in
contract assets as at 31 March 2022. Retention monies will
be released after completion of defect liability period of the
relevant contracts or in accordance with the terms specified
in the relevant contracts, ranging from 1 to 2 years from the
date of the issuance of the practical completion certificate.
Upon satisfactory completion of contract work as set out in
the contract, the architect for the building project will issue a
practical completion certificate. Generally, upon the issuance
of the practical completion certificate, half of the retention
money of such contract work will be released to the Group,
while the remaining half will be released to the Group upon
the issuance of the certificate at the end of defect liability
period that identified defects in respect of the entire building
project have been made good. Approximately HK$33,641,000
(2021: HK$24,286,000) and HK$6,301,000 (2021:
HK$10,365,000) of retention receivables are recoverable
within one year and after one year, respectively.

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets are set
out in note 5(b).

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A

BHEERASENAREREFES
EE am 3 AR 7S T W ER KB RO ) o

20226 3H31H  EZSELHWE
W R 28 439,942,000/ 7T (20214 :
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FHAAE R 3 L B (EREEE TR EN
BRECEECENZERERTAEE -
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F : 24,286,000/ 7T) }6,301,000% 7T
(20214 : 10,365,000/ 7T) Al 2 B —
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xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22. ENRIE - RERHEMEWRK

RECEIVABLES 15
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Prepaid project expenses FERIEE X 16,798 2,054
Prepayments SN B 1,317 1,003
Rental and other deposits e kHMmZe 4,940 3,738
Other receivables E 4th e W 3008 127 139
23,182 6,934

Analysed as: DR

Current assets B EE 18,782 3,734
Non-current assets (note) JEmEN & E (P 5E) 4,400 3,200
23,182 6,934
Note: cash deposits of HK$4,400,000 (2021: HK$3,200,000) Mzt : 38 & 17 74,400,000/ jT (2021
were pledged to a third party to secure surety bonds of 4 : 3,200,000 ) EE#H T F
HK$12,088,000 (2021: HK$8,088,000) as disclosed in note SHUEREHREMBEENER
31. ¥E1R12,088,0005% 7T (20214 :

8,088,000/ 7T) °

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other Ee kA BB R ER EFER
receivables are disclosed in note 5(b). Bt S5 () B BR -
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

23. PLEDGED BANK BALANCES/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

Pledged bank deposits of HK$27,412,000 (2021:
HK$27,380,000) carry interest at prevailing market rate
ranging from 0.08% to 0.15% (2021: 0.15% to 1.75%) per

annum as at 31 March 2022.

At 31 March 2022, the pledged bank deposits of
HK$27,412,000 (2021: HK$27,380,000) have been
pledged to secure the bank loans of HK$97,610,000 (2021:
HK$83,991,000) and bank overdrafts of HK$19,000 (2021:
HK$48,000). In addition, included in the carrying amount
as at 31 March 2021 is HK$25,309,000 which is also
pledged to secure surety bonds of an aggregate balance of
HK$13,175,000 given by banks. Details of bank loans, bank
overdrafts and surety bonds please refer to notes 26 and 31.

Bank balances and cash comprise of cash on hand and
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less, and carry interest at prevailing market rate of

0.01% (2021: 0.01%) per annum.

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A

23. EERRITAER BITEHRR

B&

M2022F3A831H  EEREBITHEXK
27,412,000/ JT (20214 : 27,380,000
BIL) IBRIBTM S EREN F0.08%FE
0.15% (20214 : 0.15% % 1.75% ) &t
B o

M202243H318 + 27,412,000 7T
(20214 : 27,380,000/ JT) #y & &
IRITFRE B - ¥E&97,610,000/8 T
(20214 : 83,991,000/ 7T) $RITEZ &
19,0007 7T (20214 : 48,000/% JT) iR
TET R - IS+ R20219F3 A31
AR BREE S /925,309,000 T IR E &
- ERBRIRITIRME B 413,175,000
BITHEEERNER BHERTE
FBRTBEX REMERNFBELH
FfaE26 31 ©

RTEBREBESaETFHERS NEIR
B3ME A IATHEERITFER - RIR
THHERZE0.01% (20214 : 0.01%)
E -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

24. TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 24, BETREE

The followings were the Group’s financial assets as at 31 AN AAREEP202263A318 B BIE
March 2022 that were transferred to banks by factoring CEHEREERERWEEZ S EWKIE
relevant trade receivables of HK$11,958,000 (2021: 11,958,000/ st (20214 : 10,439,000
HK$10,439,000) on full recourse basis. As the Group has BIL) MEETIRITHEREE - AR
not transferred the significant risks and rewards relating AEBWEBEZERBRFKIENHEBEEX
to these receivables, it continues to recognise full carrying Ef K ElReEE HEERRSMEE
amount of the financial assets and has recognised the cash B2 EPEREE - I 2 5% FE 8 i U S /Y
received on the transfer and included as secured bank loans. HEBRLFTABEBRITERA © %
These financial assets are carried at amortised cost in the LI MEEMLLLE WBAMR T NIRE i

consolidated statement of financial position. PR AT B o
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT T
Carrying amount of transferred assets PEEEENREE 11,958 10,439
Carrying amount of associated liabilities R B EREE (11,958) (10,439)
Net position SRR - =
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

25. BB R EMENRKE

2022 2021

2022F 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHERT FAT

Trade payables B 5 e /1A 44,627 26,809
Retention payables - amount payable JERMREB & — AR —FA

within one year Y HEEE 9,880 5,924
Retention payables - amount payable ERREBE —BAR—F1&

after one year W 3,387 3,535

Accrued charges &R 7,201 5,778

Other payables H qth pE A /IR 127 106

65,222 42,152

The credit period granted to the Group by suppliers and
subcontractors is 30 to 60 days. The following is an ageing
analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date

at the end of the reporting period:

HEFES>BRAGTAEENEERA
30£60H c L FARMEHKR - EHE
NFREERBEZHHMNERE DT

2022 2021
20225 20214

HK$"000 HK$'000

THxT T

0-30 days 0Z30H 32,117 17,865
31-60 days 312608 3,704 1,912
61-90 days 61%290H 3,884 3,308
Over 90 days 90H LA E 4,922 3,724
Total 4AEt 44,627 26,809

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A
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xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

26. BANK BORROWINGS 26. 1T E
2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FABT
Bank loans RITER 117,701 97,991
Bank overdrafts RITEX 19 48
117,720 98,039
Carrying amount repayable based on RE R M FEAEEE
scheduled repayment dates set out in ERAEEENY
loan agreements: AEEREE -
— On demand or within one year —RERKK—FNR 110,706 95,514
— More than one year, but not ——F A FERFA
exceeding two years 1,604 2,013
— More than two years, but not —MFUAEERER
exceeding five years 5,410 512
117,720 98,039
Less: Carrying amount of bank B IR REIAEET
borrowings that are repayable on RERERIBE
demand or contain a repayment on RERERERD
demand clause and shown under RITIE KA BRE (A
current liabilities (117,720) (98,039)
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

26. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

26. SRITER (&)

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH& T
Variable-rate bank loans comprise: FERITEREIE
Secured bank loans (note (a)) BRI RITE R (K@)
— HK$ bank loans at Hong Kong —RBEABRITAERE
Interbank Offered Rate ([BBBRITREFE]
("HIBOR") plus 2.50% to 2.75% 112.50%%22.75% (2021
(2021: HIBOR plus 2.50% to F - BBRITREEFE N
2.75%) per annum 2.50% % 2.75%)H) F R &
EMBITRITER 97,610 83,991
Unsecured bank loans (note (b)) K IR 1T B 3R (KT 5E(b))
— HK$ bank loans at HIBOR plus —RBEABRITAERE
2.75% (2021: HIBOR plus 2.75%) 2.75% (20214 : &%
per annum IRITRIZEHREM2.75%) B
FRNEFABNBTRITER 10,000 10,000
— HK$ bank loans at bank’s lending ~ —iRRITHEEEZRFIX
prime rate (“Prime Rate”) less ([HEENE])F2.25%F
2.25% to 2.50% (2021: Prime 2.50% (20214 : HZEHEF =
Rate less 2.25%) per annum H2.25% ) By 4 Fl R
SAERMBTRITER 10,091 4,000
20,091 14,000
Secured bank overdrafts (note (a)) BHRMRITE S (M15E@Q))
— HK$ bank overdrafts at Prime Rate  — X & EEFEE1.25%
less 1.25% (2021: Prime Rate less (20214 : JZEEFI=R
1.25%) per annum 1.25% ) B & K| =
AERMEBITRITEX 19 48
117,720 98,039
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26. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

As at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021, the HIBOR and
Prime Rate are quoted by the lending banks.

Notes:

(@ As at 31 March 2022, the secured bank loans of
HK$97,610,000 (2021: HK$83,991,000) and bank overdrafts
of HK$19,000 (2021: HK$48,000) are secured by the pledged
bank deposits of HK$27,412,000 (2021: HK$27,380,000), trade
receivables of HK$11,958,000 (2021: HK$10,439,000), contract
assets of HK$15,263,000 (2021: HK$14,612,000) on a full
recourse basis, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss of HK$9,906,000 (2021: HK$9,828,000) and guaranteed
by corporate guarantees of the Company and a PRC subsidiary.

In addition to the pledge of assets and guarantee disclosed
above, included in the secured bank loans are bank loans of
HK$86,618,000 (2021: HK$74,413,000) which are also secured
by properties held by a director of the Company and companies
controlled by a director of the Company or his close family
members.

The secured bank loans carry effective interest rates ranging
from 2.77% to 3.02% (2021: 2.65% to 2.90%) per annum.

The bank overdrafts carry effective interest rate at 4.00%
(2021: 4.00%) per annum.

(b)  As at 31 March 2022, the unsecured bank loans are guaranteed
by HKMC Insurance Limited under SME Financing Guarantee
Scheme and personal guarantees given by Mr. Yu and Mr.
Chow, directors of the Company. The unsecured bank loans
carry effective interest rate ranging from 2.75% to 3.02%
(2021: 2.75% to 2.90%) per annum.

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

26. SRITER (&)

720224383110 K202143H31H
BARARITRARFKERZEENRAENK
RITHRIE -

B &E -

(@) M2022%F3A318  AEMIRT
B 397,610,000 5T (20214 :
83,991,000/ 7t) & #R 17 19,000
T (20214 : 48,0008 7T) AE &
1898 17 £ 327,412,000/ 7t (2021
% :27,380,0008 L) - BESEWK
FXTE 11,958,000 5T (20214 -
10,439,000/ 7T) * R EBRELEN
B #)E 15,263,000/ 7T (20214 :
14,612,000/ 7T) * #RAFERF AER
#) & Bl & E9,906,00058 7T (20214 :
9,828,000/ 7t.) EE A R AR 2 7] &
— ] R T B 2 AR L 0 A R MR AR A
R -

BREXHBEENEEZE B K E
RN BEFBRITERBERIT
B 786,618,000/ jr (20214 :
74,413,000 7T) * INAR AR —HE
ERHAARB —BEFHEH BB
B R AT R Y S (R o

BERBITERNERFMNENT
2.77%%23.02% (20215 : 2.65% %
2.90%) °

RITEIT N ERFHER4.00% (2021
£ 4.00%) °

(b) M202293A318 @ ELIFRETE R
HESZRBRERARAABRES /N
XMERERAEER  TUARRE
EREERBEERENEABERE
BR ERFRITERNERENE
NF2.75%%3.02% (20214 : 2.75%
£2.90%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

27. LEASE LIABILITIES

27. HE&EE

Lease payments

Present value of
lease payments

HEMNH HENRBRE

2022 2021 2022 2021

20224 20214 20224 20214

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET FET FTHET FET

Within one year —FR 1,700 1,743 1,672 1,649

In the second to fifth years, BE-EFRHF

inclusive (REEEMT) - 1,700 - 1,672
1,700 3,443
Less: Future finance charges B AR E R Y (28) (122)

Present value of lease liabilities HEBBRE 1,672 3,321 1,672 3,321

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months (shown under
current liabilities)

Amount due for settlement after
12 months

B 1218 A AR H
I 78 &5 R (R
REAETIIR)

1218 A& 24
b 78 455 KRB

At 31 March 2022, the average borrowing rate was 3.85%
(2021: 4.04%). Interest rate are fixed at the contract dates
and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A

M202243A318H -

(1,672) (1,649)

- 1,672

F 4 % A A

3.85% (20214F : 4.04%) ° FIRNE L
HHEET @ AEERLEERAFEREX
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xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. |7
Number of
shares Amount
R &E &8
‘000 HK$'000
T FAT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each ~ SRR EI{E0.01/8 LAY & 8 %
Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 M2020F4A18 ~ 202143A31H
and 31 March 2022 N&2022F3A31H 5,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITERER
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 R2020%F4H1H « 2021F3A31H
and 31 March 2022 }2022%3A31H 800,000 8,000

All issued shares rank pari passu in all respects including all
rights as to dividends, voting and return of capital.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to owners through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes bank borrowings as disclosed in note 26, net of cash
and cash equivalents and equity of the Group, comprising
issued share capital and reserves. Management of the Group
reviews the capital structure regularly taking into account
the cost of capital and the risk associated with the capital.
The Group will balance its overall capital structure through
issue of new shares, raise of new borrowings or repayment of
existing borrowings.

MECBRITERORMAETEH(BEESR
BB RERREABBH A ERN)
BB R EF AL -

AEEEREEAN  EHEBBEREHE
BafEh&EYE  BRAESEER

ARERE  TABRRGERALR -
AREENBEREE F—FE L RER
N

=

AEENEARBREGY (BREME
26 BEHIRITE - SRR E MR
TEHEEY) RAKERE (BEREHTR
AEFERE) AEBEEEEHRTE
RERE BEFEREARAREERE
MHER  AKREEBBEITHRN &
SEFERKNEERBER  UFHEE
BEARRE -
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

29. RESERVES
(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

29. {##%&
(a) AEE

AEENFESBEREEH IR
FeaEakAME2ERAREE

A Fi5 DL w2y
EEmE

HRAZ5 -

(b) Company (b) =AF
Share Other Capital Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
R4 5 (E Hitb i Ak RitER st
(note)
(FtzE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THBL TET TAL THET TAT
At 1 April 2020 12020647818 37,915 3,000 35,536 (20,098) 56,353
Loss and total comprehensive EABERZE
expense for the year g - - = (2,151) (2,151)
At 31 March 2021 and R2021F3A31A K
1 April 2021 20214718 37,915 3,000 35,536 (22,249) 54,202
Loss and total comprehensive EABERZE
expense for the year HY @58 - - = (1,996) (1,996)
At 31 March 2022 1202263 A31H 37,915 3,000 35,536 (24,245) 52,206
Note: Capital reserve represented the difference between the MeE . RARKERBEZEEBN2018

carrying amount of the equity of Polyfair HK prior to a
group reorganisation in 2018 and the issued share capital
of Polyfair HK pursuant to the group reorganisation.

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

31.

As at 31 March 2022, certain assets of the Group were
pledged to secure an aggregate amount of bank loans of
HK$97,610,000 (2021: HK$83,991,000) and bank overdrafts
of HK$19,000 (2021: HK$48,000) as disclosed in note 26 and
surety bonds of HK$16,921,000 (2021: HK$21,263,000) as
disclosed in note 31. The pledged bank deposits of HK$nil
(2021: HK$25,309,000), trade receivables of HK$7,742,000
(2021: HK$10,439,000) and contract assets of HK$2,476,000
(2021: HK$6,159,000) were also pledged to secure the
performance guarantees granted under letters of guarantees
of the Group of an aggregate balance of HK$4,833,000
(2021: HK$13,175,000) given by banks as disclosed in note
31. The pledged cash deposit of HK$4,400,000 (2021:
HK$3,200,000) was pledged to a third party to secure
the performance guarantee granted by the third party of
HK$12,088,000 (2021: HK$8,088,000) as disclosed in note
31.

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEE

The performance guarantees given by banks were granted
under letters of guarantees of the Group and were secured
by the Group’s pledged bank deposits, trade receivables and
contract assets as disclosed in note 30, which will be released
upon completion of the contract works.

As at 31 March 2022, these surety bonds given by banks
were also secured by pledges of certain properties held by
companies controlled by a director of the Company or his
close family members (2021: pledges of certain properties
held by a director of the Company and companies controlled
by a director of the Company or his close family members) as
disclosed in note 32 and guaranteed by corporate guarantees
of the Company and a PRC subsidiary (2021: corporate
guarantees of the Company and a PRC subsidiary).

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

30. EEE#

31.

M2022F3A318  REBETEE
EEH - EA4 597,610,000 7T
(20214F : 83,991,000/ 70) $RITE X K
19,0008 7T (20214 : 48,000/ 7T ) #2717
FH (M FE26FT#F8) LA K 16,921,000
7 7T (202148 © 21,263,000/ 7T) 2 H
BR(OMWEIAMEE) NER -
7t (20214 : 25,309,000/ 7T) HE &
HERITIEFR ~ 7,742,000 7T (20214 :
10,439,000 70) W & 5 & W K IE &
2,476,000/% 7T (20214 : 6,159,000/
TLOMEHNEENCER  t(EERTER
AR IR AN & B AR K R R4
44,833,000/ 7T (20214 : 13,175,000
B TC) M B AR ER (0BT E31AT
W) o BHIFIR & 754,400,000/ T
(20214 : 3,200,000/ 7T) & & # F —
BE=ZFH  EAEZFBRENBLOER
12,088,000/ 7T (20214F : 8,088,000/
T0) BIPEMR (A0 RE31FTIREE) o

B # R

RITRENBOERDIBRBANREER
R - WAREE R ERRITER
BHRUHRIA KA KW EERER(AOKH
30PTIRE) c ARERBNANTIE
ST TR ARER ©

R2022%F3H318 ' ZFHETRENE
AERTAAQRR —BEZNE B
THIE AR TS TR EHR (2021
F:ANG —REERAARA—RE
ERERBEEHNAREE THEN
) (EER (MM E2EAEE) KA R
AElk—EF BB AR ERER
(2021F : AR R R —EHRE KB A A
BB EER) (ERE ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

31.

32.

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEE (continued)

The performance guarantee given by a third party was secured
by the Group’s pledged cash deposits as disclosed in note 30
and guaranteed by personal guarantees by two directors of
the Company and corporate guarantees by the Company and
a Hong Kong subsidiary of the Group, which will be released
upon completion of the contract works.

At the end of both reporting periods, the directors of the
Company do not consider it is probable that a claim will be
made against the Group in respect of the above performance
guarantees.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 March 2022, properties held by a director of the
Company and companies controlled by a director of the
Company or his close family members were pledged to
secure bank loans of HK$86,618,000 (2021: HK$74,413,000)
out of total secured bank loans of HK$97,610,000 (2021:
HK$83,991,000) as set out in note 26.

As at 31 March 2022, properties held by companies controlled
by a director of the Company or his close family members
(2021: properties held by a director of the Company and
companies controlled by a director of the Company or his
close family members) were pledged to secure surety bonds
of HK$4,833,000 (2021: HK$13,175,000) given by banks as
disclosed in note 31.

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company, who represent
the key management personnel during the year, are set out in
note 13.

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A

1. BHER (&)

32.

F=NRENBENERIIAAKEEE
IR ST RAEHER (MM 30T ) &
BHARAMEESTNEAERAREAR
AIRAEE —HEEMBARNERE
RIERE - BRABRRERENITETT
5 AR B

RMEREMER  XRAREEFRR
AREBEANKA G LA BOERE S

= -
BAHE T R 5

R2022F3A318 ' ARAl—BEER
AARR —BESHEHRBIEHAQFR]
Frfsmz e E# - ¥E/297,610,000%8 7T
(20214 : 83,991,000/ 7T) B KR TT
B #4258+ 86,618,000/ 7T (20214 :
74,413,000/ 70) SRITERAER (HR
MfzE26) °

R2022%F3H318 - AARA —RES
SR EBBEEH AR F Y E (2021
F AR —REBERHARR —RE
EREEBIEHNARMEDE)EE
- {E R B RITIE H 894,833,000% 7T
(20214 : 13,175,000/8 7T ) = FEHER Y
R (K E31FTHE) -

FTEEEBASHM

ARFREE(XTREERBAR) FAM
TENMFEIZ -



33.

34.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of independent trustees. The Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, which contribution
is matched by employees but subject to a maximum amount
of HK$1,500 per month for each employee to the MPF
Scheme.

The employees employed by the PRC subsidiary are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiary is
required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll
to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligations of the PRC subsidiary with respect to
the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$2,883,000
(2021: HK$1,530,000) represents contributions paid or
payable to the above schemes by the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to provide incentives or rewards to participants of the
share option scheme including the directors of the Company
and eligible employees of the Group, the shareholders of the
Company passed an ordinary resolution at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 25 January 2018 to approve
the adoption of a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”). No share options were granted under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption on 25 January 2018.

33.

34.

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

iR k48 A 5t &

AEBAMBAERNABEERHR
Bairs - BBESHENEERAEEH
MEEDHIEE  TEBUITANE
CHE - ALKEREBASERABRT
B A B5% M) 58 8 & 5T &l fE 5K
T ARBAEEMMBESEELD
Bt A1,5008 7T ©

REIM B AR PTIS B RV B B A BT
REMNBREZRKEMEINKE -
FEMBARARETIENX —BOL
AR KR A S IR LR AR MBS
Ex - PEMEARHBRKRENG S
M- BT AREABEFLRED

K o

B 18 % 30 Bk Y 48 Bk 782,883,000 JT
(20214 : 1,530,000 JT) A 7 & E &
E20229F3A31BIEFE A LMFHERE
ek BT R SR -

BREE

RAEREEN2EE (BRART
MEERAKENEERER) KT
B AR - ARRBRREARRFN2018
FIABERTHERRBEFAS LBB
—IHEBRBR  HERA —IEBRE
arEl ([t El]) - BR2018%F1A
25 B IR MBI AT 8IAR - BEERIERE
Pt st S T RE A A2 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The major terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarised
as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
an incentive or a reward to participants for their
contribution to the Group.

Eligibility
Eligible participants include employees (whether full

time or part time employees, including non-executive
directors) and such other eligible participants.

Maximum number of shares

Maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group must not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of shares in
issue from time to time.

Total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Group shall
not exceed 80,000,000 shares, being 10% of the total
number of shares in issue as at the listing date, 23
February 2018, unless the Group obtains the approval
of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting
for renewing the scheme mandate limit under the Share
Option Scheme.

Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 AR A A

34. BERAESTE (&)
BB B E BRI T -

(a)

(b)

(c)

BRESENE®

FERERT S B MR AAREE
H BRI 2 R ELS T o B =R -

BERM
AEBSAEOERER (BHEH
AEBES  BEFNTER) R

EAEMBEERSEE -

RONE&SEE

REBRES S RASEEA R
FE A RSt B AT RE IR 0 BB R P
BROBEMHHNRESHEEARKTE
BN D BT BRZREI30% °

IR AR A & B 1 B IR AT 8 I (E 1A
HEBEREES RN E
RERMSRHRMDBEHRTS B
1%80,000,000% (B 7 £ A HA
(2018%2H23H) BE% TR MK 4
HH10%) * BRIEAR KB ERA A
BRERABREREANS E#EE T ER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(d) Period of the Share Option Scheme

(e)

Subject to any prior termination by the Company in a
general meeting or by the board of directors, the Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing on the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each
participant

No share option shall be granted to any participant if
any further grant of options would result in the shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share
options granted and to be granted to such person
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period up to and including such further
grant exceeding 1% of the total number of shares in
issue, unless:

(1) such further grant has been duly approved, in the
manner prescribed by the relevant provisions of
Chapter 23 of the Listing Rules, by resolution of
the shareholders in general meeting at which the
participant and his associates shall abstain from
voting;

(2) a circular regarding the further grant has been
despatched to the shareholders in a manner
complying with, and containing the information
specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 23
of the Listing Rules (including the identity of the
participant, the number and terms of the share
options to be granted and options previously
granted to such participant); and

(3) the number and terms (including the subscription
price) of such share option are fixed before the
general meeting of the Company at which the
same are approved.

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

34.55 R AERT 8 (|)
(d) RBRAERT EIRVHIR

(e)

BIEARDRABRRAGHESTE T
RATA L - &R RRERT B BN IR
MEARER SIS BEF0FHA
BRRER -

E2HRENRSRE

fidf 1) (7] 2 B2 25 3 — 23R I A
BEERREERE A (BEZ
B) IEM2EABREDRE T &
KR TZ2EENBRE (BFEE
TTIE R RITE R BB AL HE) AT (8
mE#&T R FRITHRMDBRD %
TR EHN1% BT gRZE
HEROBARE  RIE:

(1) BRE-—ZTREERGEME
MRAUAE -+ =BFIEX
P E B9 5 VAR BRI R
K& ERFERIE M E
M2 EEREBEABR
G EMERRE

2) BREIKRGEMETT R A H
—+=EBREXFATED
EAmBRRSTE —HDERE
—IRENBE EFREHE
GEMEMRAE=+=8H
BIEXFTRENER (BIEL
HENSHD BETZ2HE
ENBRERENEE TZ
2HEENBERENRE RIE
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(3) %EBRENEE REF (2
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Payment on acceptance of the share
option

HK$1 is payable by the grantee to the Company on
acceptance of the share option offer. The share option
offer will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21
days from the date on which the offer is granted.

Subscription price for shares

The subscription price of a share in respect of any
particular option granted under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the board of
directors at least the higher of:

(1) the closing price of the shares;

(2) the average closing price of the shares for the five
consecutive business days immediately preceding
the offer date; and

(3) the nominal value of a share on the offer date.

The remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme

Approximately 5 years and 10 months (expiring on 24
January 2028).

164 Polyfair Holdings Limited 242 ik 5 IR 2 &)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 35. RERERERNT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Change in liabilities arising from financing METEECEENES
activities
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities TRIINFAREEREFEEEE
arising from financing activities during the year. B EE -
Interest Bank Lease
payable borrowings liabilities Total
ERFE RITER HEasE #gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT FAT FAT
At 1 April 2020 720204818 - 96,268 1,428 97,696
Changes in cash flows Bengs (4,103) 1,771 (1,753) (4,085)
Non-cash changes: FEREE

— interest charged —FIEAX 4,103 = = 4,103

~ addition — 3 - - 3,646 3,646
At 31 March 2021 and 72021438318 &

1 April 2021 20214718 - 98,039 3,321 101,360
Changes in cash flows Renes (3,977) 19,681 (1,649) 14,055
Non-cash changes: FReE :

— interest charged —FIERHX 3,977 - - 3,977
At 31 March 2022 1202243 A318 - 117,720 1,672 119,392
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e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZE20226F3A31HLFE

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36. A~ A 7 89 BF #E AR R 3R
THE COMPANY
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR K IRE 68,058 68,058
Current assets MENEE
Prepayments, deposits and TERRIE - 22k
other receivables H th & W FR I8 191 223
Amount due from a subsidiary JE U — I BT B A R 5K I8 38 25
Bank balances and cash RITHBR MRS 157 50
386 298
Current liabilities mEAE
Amount due to a subsidiary e — RE BT B A =) F0E 7,959 5,887
Other payables Hh JE N FIE 279 267
8,238 6,154
Net current liabilities mEBEER (7,852) (5,856)
Net assets BEFE 60,206 62,202
Capital and reserves BRI
Share capital [N 8,000 8,000
Reserves M 52,206 54,202
Total equity e iaER 60,206 62,202
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

38.

COMPANY

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the
Company as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021 are as
follows:

Place of incorporation

xR B B R 3R AR B =

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BMZE2022F3A31HLFE

37. XA FIM B A AFR

ARRBIFR20229F3 8318 K2021%F3 8
SNHEEZELHEESENHE AR MFS
m

Proportion of

nominal value of

and principal place of Issued and fully issued share capital
Name of subsidiary business paid share capital held by the Company Principal activities
Bl R:E ) RSN ES
WEAR AR FTEEXBE EERTRARRE ERTREHENLA TEEY
2022 2021
2022% 2021F
% %
Direct subsidiaries
ERNEAR
Polyfair Group Limited BVI/Hong Kong Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
ELEEERLT EBRAEE/BE %7 100 100 KA
Indirect subsidiaries
BEHEAR
Polyfair HK Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100 100 Project management services
for facade and installation
of curtain wall systems and
investment holding
LR B 3,000,0007%7C 100 100 SMEERERRBERBE RS
ZRARREER
Shenzhen Polyfair Curtainwall  PRC HK$1,000,000 100 100  Design of facade systems
Technology Company Limited
(note)
RANEXERUBZARART  +E 1,000,000/ 7¢ 100 100 SMEZRERR
(M)

Note: Shenzhen Polyfair Curtainwall Technology Company Limited
is registered under the law of the PRC as foreign investment
enterprise. The official name of the entity is in Chinese. The
English name is for identification purpose only.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the respective reporting periods.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 June
2022.

38.
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Financial Summary

MBHE

RESULTS

For the five years ended 31 March 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021 and

E

B E2018%F ~ 20194 - 20204 20214 &

2022 2022F3A31H IFAAFEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20214 20204 20194 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT THT THT THTT THT
Revenue U % 362,094 299,995 229,809 215,778 271,841
Profit,/(loss) before BRERDEF, (EE)
taxation 3,352 2,941 592 (6,883) 8,084
Taxation(charge)/credit B\ (Fx) /#% (695) (1,002) 2,477 302 (3,915)
Profit,/(loss) for the year FREHM, (FE) 2,657 1,939 3,069 (6,581) 4,169
Other comprehensive FREMEE
income,/(expense) for WA/ (FX)
the year 28 (2) (30) (58) 100
Total comprehensive FRZEKRA
income, (expense) for (AX) #z
the year 2,685 1,937 3,039 (6,639) 4,269
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20225 20214 20204 20194 20184
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FiET FHTT THTT T
Total assets BERE 253,766 209,886 190,444 191,241 235,742
Total liabilities BELRE (184,741)  (143,546)  (126,041)  (129,788)  (165,944)
Net assets BESME 69,025 66,340 64,403 61,453 69,798
Note: B 5E -

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated

financial statements.
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